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Report on pages 6 to 13. The Directors’ Report and the Corporate 
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highlights

•	 Net	profit	from	continuing	operations	
$2.2m

•	 Ongoing	improvements	in	operating	client	
margins

•	 Continuing	operational	cash	generation

•	 Balance	sheet	strengthened

•	 Tax	asset	recorded

•	 Company	continues	to	operate	without	
debt

Fellow Shareholders,

It is very pleasing to report another year of steady and consistent 
financial progress, despite continuing residual impacts from the global 
financial crisis.  As we outlined two years ago, a key management 
focus was to establish a robust and sustainable operating structure 
that would generate cash and profits, even amidst difficult economic 
conditions.  The full year net profit after tax from continuing operations 
of $2.2m is the Company’s fourth consecutive profit reporting period.  
This, combined with further improvements in operating client margins 
and a closing balance of cash and cash equivalents exceeding $3.3m, 
ensures we continue to be well placed financially and operationally. 

The decisions we made in 2009 to solely focus on providing risk 
management solutions to the financial industry have proved to be the 
right ones.  We continue to see market and regulatory recognition 
of the complex issues surrounding risk management and its vital 
role in avoiding systemic market failures.  Risk remains an inherent 
and necessary component of free markets. Recent events have 
demonstrated that the way in which financial institutions measure and 
manage risk will differentiate them in what is an increasingly competitive 
landscape.  As a consequence, there will be an ongoing need for 
effective risk management technology solutions, such as Razor, in 
order that financial institutions successfully operate amidst these 
changed market and regulatory conditions.

ongoing proDuct DeVelopMent

While we remain focused on profit and cost containment, our 
development team built on the enhanced processes implemented in 
the prior year and, in addition to completing work for existing clients, 
finalised much of the development for Razor 3.0.  This imminent 
new release culminates over two years of developments in real-
time performance improvements and the ongoing expansion of risk 
analytics, as well as extensive functional enhancements and enhanced 
product coverage.  

chairMan’s anD chieF eXecutiVe  
oFFicer’s report

anDreW WooD

Chief Executive Officer

ellis Bugg

Chairman
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We remain focused on ensuring our clients’ technology solutions not 
only meet, but exceed current needs.  Due to constant changes in 
business drivers and ever-growing regulatory amendments, our clients’ 
needs are continuously changing.  Razor, being a risk framework, can 
readily adapt to meet those changing needs.  

Going forward, with the strengthening of internal processes, the 
Company will be able to capitalise certain research and development 
costs that meet the appropriate accounting standard.

Meeting clients’ neeDs

During the year we took additional steps to streamline our global 
delivery model to further build our capability to rapidly respond to our 
clients’ needs, irrespective of the geography in which they operate. 
This strategy resulted in the commitment by several clients to purchase 
additional licensing of Razor and additional significant, long-term, 
ongoing development and customisation of their specific Razor 
solution. 

The Company has also been reinvigorated with a new sales and 
delivery team that brings software skills and, just as important, a 
consulting approach to our clients’ needs.  As previously reported, 
risk solution buyers now demand that risk suppliers not only have 
the necessary technical skills to implement sophisticated advanced 
risk management solutions, but also possess the expertise of risk 
practitioners.  We are committed to building and retaining a core team 
with a current knowledge of our clients’ industry, who can actively 
work with clients and ensure successful outcomes to the business 
challenges they are confronted with. 

By way of illustration, Kliring Penjaminan Efek Indonesia (KPEI) selected 
Razor at the end of the previous financial year.  Working in partnership 
with KPEI’s staff, we successfully implemented the Razor solution 
within the twelve month period specified, whilst at the same time 
ensuring that we delivered the fine tuning necessary to enable the client 
to take full advantage of the Razor risk framework and to support its 
evolving business needs.

securing neW Banking Facilities

A significant portion of the Company’s revenues are denominated in 
United States Dollars and British Pounds. There have been extensive 
fluctuations in foreign currencies throughout the year and the 
Company’s ability to adequately protect against these swings was 
constrained by limited hedge facilities.  Accordingly, the Company’s 
management undertook a review of its banking facilities and aided by 
the improvements in the financial position, management negotiated 
enhanced foreign currency facilities as well as overdraft facilities.  As 
a consequence, we are in a better position to manage currency 
exposures and provide working capital flexibility.  

geographical changes

As we note in more detail in the Directors’ Report, management 
decided to centralise all development effort and accordingly the 
development centre in Chennai, India, was closed, and all support and 
maintenance of the PTx product was moved back to Australia.  As a 
result of this change, a discontinued operation cost totalling $654,000 
was recorded.  On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank our 
employees for the smooth transition that occurred without any 
disruption to our clients.

Future outlook

As a result of the inherent uncertainty around future regulation and 
the new costs of doing business in certain geographies, a ‘wait and 
see’ attitude was adopted by many prospective clients.  This not only 
further slowed down decision making on enterprise risk systems, 
but also curtailed smaller role-based engagements.  As we enter the 
current year, we are beginning to see confidence return to financial 
markets and budget allocations being made for the enhancement and 
replacement of risk management systems. 

Whilst regulatory changes are still in flux, recent regulatory 
developments indicate significant changes to the way financial 
institutions operate. As a consequence, this is a critical time for 
financial institutions to examine how risk is measured and managed 
across their organisations. This will enable them to determine what 
technological and operational changes are needed to succeed in this 
evolving regulatory and market environment.

In the United States, the recently signed Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act will see mandatory clearing 
and exchange trading for certain derivative instruments that were 
previously transacted ‘over the counter’.  The Committee on Payment 
and Settlement Systems (CPSS) and the Technical Committee of 
the International Organisation of Securities (IOSCO) are reviewing 
their 2004 recommendations to offer more guidance to all Central 
Counterparties (CCPs) handling over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives and 
new minimum standards are expected to be released in early 2001. 
Basel III is expected to introduce a lower capital charge for centrally 
cleared OTC products.  The G20 will require all OTC products to be 
centrally cleared by 2012. 

With a strong operational and financial footing, a strong base of 
existing CCP clients and a track record of successful implementations 
for exchanges and major financial institutions, the Board looks forward 
to the future of Razor Risk Technologies with confidence.

chairMan’s anD chieF eXecutiVe oFFicer’s report continued
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Your Directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Directors

The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the 
financial year and until the date of this report are as follows. Directors 
were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

ellis Bugg

Chairman and Non–executive Director

Ellis was appointed to the Board on 19 April 2006 and became 
Chairman of the Board and the Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee on 14 November 2007. 

Ellis has 40 years’ experience within the Australian banking industry 
with extensive knowledge and practical experience within financial 
markets and the associated infrastructure, especially technology and 
risk management.

Prior to joining Razor Risk Technologies Limited, Ellis held senior 
positions in Financial Markets and Risk Management with the 
Commonwealth Bank and National Australia Bank.  he has been 
actively involved in various industry bodies including serving a number 
of years as Deputy Chairman of Austraclear and as a member of the 
Risk Committee of CLS Bank. 

Ellis is a Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia (Finsia) 
and Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Ellis has 
not held other directorships in a publicly listed company in the last 3 
years.

siMon Yencken 

Non–executive Director

Simon has held a number of senior management & board–level 
positions with companies in the United States and Europe. he was 
a Board Member of Tibco Software Inc and CEO of Tibco Finance 
Technology Inc, and prior to that was Managing Director of Reuters 
Financial Enterprise Systems. his prior roles within Reuters Group 
Plc included General Counsel and Company Secretary, a role in 
acquisitions and membership of the Group Executive Committee. 

Simon co–founded NextSet Software Inc, which was acquired by 
Razor Risk Technologies in 2003.  he remains a Non–executive Board 
Member of Razor Risk Technologies, and is a member of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee and the Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee.

Simon is also an investor in, and Board Member of Aconex Limited. 
Aconex is the world’s largest and fastest growing provider of online 
collaboration for construction and engineering projects. Aconex closed 
a significant funding round with Francisco Partners of San Francisco in 
September 2008. 

Simon is a co–founder of a social media marketing business in the San 
Francisco Bay area. he is also an advisor to a number of early stage 
technology companies. 

Simon holds a law degree and Bachelor of Science in Mathematics 
from Monash University. he has not held other directorships in publicly 
listed companies in the last 3 years.

ralph pickering

Non–executive Director

Ralph was appointed to the Board on 3 October 2006 and is a 
member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee, the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee and the Finance Committee. Ralph 
has over 20 years’ experience in developing technology businesses, 
deal making, acquisitions, mergers and major engineering projects. 
he is currently Managing Director Mergers and Acquisitions at UxC 
Limited. 

Ralph holds Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical) and Master of 
Engineering Science (Computer Science) qualifications. Ralph is a 
Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a Fellow 
of the Institute of Railway Signals Engineers. Ralph has not held a 
directorship in a publicly listed company in the last 3 years.

Jane Yuile 

Non–executive Director

Jane was appointed to the Board on 29 June 2007 and is the 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the 
Finance Committee.

Jane is a chartered accountant with over 30 years’ experience as a 
finance executive. She currently runs a consulting business specialising 
in the areas of finance, risk and strategy. Jane is and has been a 
director of a number of entities at executive and non–executive level, 
ranging from listed companies to large not–for–profit organisations. 
Jane was a past chairman of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
Australia (SA & NT).

Jane holds a MBA and Bachelor of Science qualifications and is a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in Australia. Jane has not held a directorship 
in a publicly listed company in the last 3 years.

anDreW WooD

Chief Executive Officer

Andrew was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 11 September 
2008 and as a Director on 1 February 2009. Andrew has a strong 
finance and operations background, with over 15 years of experience 
working globally across multiple business environments. his last role 
prior to joining Razor Risk Technologies Limited was with Corymbia 
Investments Ltd in the UK, a business consultancy focusing on 
operational and financial management.

Based for some years in America, Andrew was a Senior Vice President 
with Management Consulting Group plc, whose consultancies 
specialise in risk management, Sarbanes Oxley and general operational 
and sales performance consulting.  In Australia, Andrew was Chief 
Financial and Commercial Officer with Object Consulting, an Australian 
software development and training organisation.

Andrew holds a Bachelor of Arts – Economics (honours) from 
Manchester University, and is a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales. he has not held other directorships 
in a publicly listed company in the last 3 years.

coMpanY secretarY 

oliVer carton

Oliver joined Razor Risk Technologies Limited as Company Secretary 
in June 2000. he is an experienced company secretary and is currently 
company secretary of a number of listed and unlisted companies, 
ranging from Razor Risk Technologies Limited to the not–for–profit 
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd. 

Oliver holds a Bachelor of Jurisprudence and a Bachelor of Law from 
UWA and has over 18 years’ experience in a variety of corporate roles. 
he currently runs a consulting business, and was previously a director 

Directors’ report
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of the chartered accounting firm KPMG where he ran its Corporate 
Secretarial Group. Prior to that, he was a senior legal officer with ASIC. 

Directors’ interests

interests in the shares anD options oF the coMpanY 
anD relateD BoDies

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares 
and options of Razor Risk Technologies Limited were:

nuMBer oF 
orDinarY shares

nuMBer oF 
options oVer 

orDinarY shares

Ellis Bugg 916,217 500,000

Simon Yencken 35,925,668 –

Ralph Pickering 4,855,145 –

Jane Yuile 14,188,601 –

Andrew Wood 10,807,883 –

principal actiVities

The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial 
period comprised the development and integration of risk management 
software for the financial sector. 

operating anD Financial reVieW

Financial highlights

highlights of Razor Risk Technologies’ Financial Statements covering 
the year ended 30 June 2010 are as follows:

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

MoVeMent

Sales revenue 14,140 18,272 (4,132)

Net Profit from 
Continuing Operations

2,243 2,217 26

Loss from Discontinued 
Operations including 
Goodwill impairment

(654) (755) 101

Consolidated Net profit 
for the period

1,589 1,462 127

Consolidated Net assets 
as at 30 June 2010

6,023 4,421 1,602

Cash and cash 
equivalents

3,374 3,139 235

Overall Operations 
Earnings per share

0.56 cents 0.53 cents 0.03 cents

As a consequence of the disruption associated with the global financial 
crisis and the short term uncertainty around future regulatory direction 
in financial institution supervision, the market for Razor type risk 
systems temporarily dried up. No new license sales were achieved in 
the period which impacted revenue but reflecting the benefit of steps 
taken to control costs, the company was able to record its fourth 
consecutive half yearly profit.

Because of that profit record, part of the Company’s previous 
unrecorded deferred tax asset in respect of taxable losses has now 

been brought to account. Further amounts may be brought to account 
based on the Company continuing to record taxable profits.

With this accounting recognition of the deferred tax asset and the 
operating profitability of the Company, the net assets of the Company 
significantly increased. Cash and cash equivalents also increased as a 
result of operating cash generation with minor capital expenditure on 
fixed assets. 

As explained further in Note 7 the Company has treated the closure 
of the Chennai based development centre as a discontinued business 
geography and having reviewed the value in use of the remaining asset 
concluded that the remaining value should be fully amortised to zero.

Business highlights

The Company’s focus continued to be around the evolving needs 
of the existing client base. Two of our largest clients exercised their 
options to take up additional rights to Razor and this was accompanied 
by new incremental consulting, implementation and development 
work which is continuing into the new financial period. The Company 
also satisfactorily passed user acceptance testing at its latest Central 
Counterparty (CCP) site and is currently in the process of assisting with 
the necessary regulatory approval prior to an actual “go live date”.

Expenditure on research and development was increased and the 
latest version of Razor will be launched early in the new financial 
year. This will culminate over two years of developments in real–time 
performance improvements and the ongoing expansion of risk 
analytics, extensive functional enhancements and enhanced product 
coverage.

As a result of the Company’s focus on Razor, the level of ongoing 
maintenance and development did not justify the continuation of a 
dedicated support centre for PTx based in Chennai, India. Accordingly 
this office was closed in June 2010 after the transfer of client 
operations to existing staff in Melbourne.

outlook

The credit crisis and the collapse of several banking institutions 
highlighted deficiencies in the measurement and control of risk, and 
technology expenditure slowed to a trickle as institutions went through 
a period of reflection. Confidence and a sense of direction are now 
returning to financial markets and we are beginning to see a more 
constant level of enquiry for Razor through demonstrations of its 
enterprise level credit and market risk functionality. 

Recent regulatory developments will likely also mean significant 
changes to the way financial institutions operate. In the United States 
the Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act will 
see mandatory clearing and exchange trading for certain derivative 
instruments that were previously transacted “over the counter”. 
Razor has existing CCP clients and a track record of successful 
implementations for exchanges. We therefore anticipate that this area 
will continue to provide opportunities for growth.

With the positive signs that are emerging, including industry reports of 
increased budget availability for risk systems, the Company plans a lift 
in expenditure on marketing to potential new clients. 

signiFicant changes in the state oF aFFairs

There have been no significant events during the year which resulted in 
a significant change in the state of affairs of the Group.

Directors’ report continued
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signiFicant eVents since Balance Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the 
financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Consolidated Group, the results of those operations, 
or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Group in future financial 
years. 

likelY DeVelopMents anD eXpecteD results

The Directors anticipate that the 2011 financial year will continue to 
show improvement in the financial performance of the Group.

The Group will also continue to look for ways of making its business 
more efficient and profitable during the current year.

enVironMental regulation anD 
perForMance

The Consolidated Group’s operations are not regulated by any 
significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth 
or of a state or territory of Australia.

share options

unissueD shares

As at the date of this report there were 4,216,705 unissued ordinary 
shares under options. Refer to Note 15 of the financial statements for 
further details of the options outstanding.

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to 
participate in any share issue of the Company or any other entity.

For details of options issued to Directors and Executives as 
remuneration, refer to the Remuneration Report.

shares issueD as a result oF the eXercise oF options

During or since the end of the financial year no options were exercised 
by employees or Directors.

DiViDenDs

There have been no dividends paid or declared for payment during the 
period.

inDeMniFication oF Directors anD oFFicers

The Company paid insurance premiums of $44,395 (2009: $36,727) 
during the year to obtain Directors and Officers Liability Insurance. In 
addition to covering Directors and Officers, the insurance extends to 
any employee acting in a managerial capacity and covers any loss 
arising from any claim for any wrongful act committed by them in their 
capacity as Director or Officer, or any Company loss as a result of a 
securities claim made against the Company for any alleged wrongful 
act committed by the Company.

reMuneration report (auDiteD)

This remuneration report outlines the Director and Executive 
remuneration arrangements of the Company and the Group in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
its Regulations. For the purposes of this report key management 
personnel (KMP) of the Group are defined as those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, 

including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent 
Company.

For the purposes of this report, the term ‘Executive’ encompasses the 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President – 
Product Management and Chief Financial Officer of the Parent and the 
Group, and the Company Secretary.

Details oF keY ManageMent personnel

(i) Directors

Ellis Bugg Chairman (Non–executive Director)

Simon Yencken Non–executive Director

Ralph Pickering Non–executive Director

Jane Yuile Non–executive Director

Andrew Wood Chief Executive Officer

(ii) executives

Firoozeh Walker Chief Operating Officer 

Thies Arens Senior Vice President – 
 Product Management

Christopher Brooke Group Chief Financial Officer 

Oliver Carton Company Secretary

Nigel Slack–Smith Chief Technology Officer – 
 resigned 25 September 2009

reMuneration philosophY

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its 
Directors and Executives. To perform well, the Company must attract, 
motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and Executives.

To this end, the Company embodies the following principles in its 
remuneration framework:

• Provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre executives;

• Link executive rewards to shareholder value;

• have a significant portion of Executive remuneration ‘at risk’, 
dependent upon meeting pre–determined performance 
benchmarks; and

• Establish appropriate, demanding performance hurdles in relation to 
variable executive remuneration.

noMinations anD reMuneration coMMittee

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Directors, the Chief Executive 
Officer and the senior management team.

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee assesses the 
appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of Directors 
and Executive officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant 
employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring 
maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board 
and executive team.

reMuneration structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure 
of Non–executive Director and Executive officer remuneration is 
separate and distinct.

Directors’ report continued
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non–executive Director remuneration

objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which 
provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain Directors 
of the highest calibre, while incurring a cost which is acceptable to 
shareholders.

structure

The Constitution and the ASx Listing Rules specify that the aggregate 
remuneration of Non–executive Directors shall be determined from time 
to time by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount 
determined is then divided between the Directors as agreed. The latest 
determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 October 
2005 when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of 
$1,150,000 per year.

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved 
by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned among 
Directors is reviewed annually. The Board considers advice from 
external consultants as well as the fees paid to Non–executive 
Directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual 
review process.

Each Director receives a fee for being a Director of the Company. 
An additional fee is also paid for each Board committee on which a 
Director sits. The payment of additional fees for serving on a committee 
recognises the additional time commitment required by Directors who 
serve on one or more subcommittees. No retirement benefits are 
payable on retirement of any Non–executive Director.

Non–executive Directors have long been encouraged by the Board to 
hold shares in the Company (purchased by the Director on market). 
It is considered good governance for Directors to have a stake in the 
Company whose board he or she sits. 

The Non–executive Directors of the Company can participate in the 
Employee Share Incentive Plan which provides incentives where 
specified criteria are met.

The remuneration of Non–executive Directors for the period ending 30 
June 2010 is detailed in the table on page 11 of this report.

senior Management and executive Director remuneration

objective

The Company aims to reward KMP with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities 
within the Company so as to:

• Reward KMP for Company and individual performance against 
targets set by reference to appropriate benchmarks;

• Align the interests of KMP with those of shareholders;

• Link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the 
Company in the financial year; and

• Ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards.

structure

In determining the level and make–up of KMP remuneration, the 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee engaged an external 
consultant in 2007 to provide independent advice both in the form of 
a written report detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable 
executive roles, as well as the participation of the independent 
consultant in the meeting from which the committee makes its 
recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration consists of the following key elements:

• Fixed remuneration; and

• Variable remuneration.

The proportion of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration 
(potential short–term and long–term incentives) is established for each 
KMP by the Nominations and Remuneration Committee. The table on 
page 11 details the variable component (%) of the KMP of the Group 
and the Company.

Fixed remuneration

objective

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee. The process consists of a review of 
companywide and individual performance, relevant comparative 
remuneration internally and in the market and, where appropriate, 
external advice on policies and practices. As noted above, the 
committee has access to external advice independent of management.

structure

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level 
of remuneration which is both appropriate to the position and is 
competitive in the market. The fixed remuneration component of the 
KMP of the Group and the Company is detailed in the table on page 
11.

Variable remuneration

objective

The objective of the variable program is to link the achievement of the 
Company’s operational targets with the remuneration received by the 
Executives charged with meeting those targets and to also reward 
KMP in a manner which is consistent with the interests of shareholders. 
The total potential variable component is set at a level so as to provide 
sufficient incentive to the KMP to achieve the operational targets and 
such that the cost to the Company is reasonable in the circumstances.

structure

Actual variable payments granted to KMP depend on the extent to 
which specific operating targets set at the beginning of the financial 
year are met. The operational targets consist of a number of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) covering both financial and non–financial 
measures of performance. Typically included are measures such as 
contribution to operational profit, customer service, risk management, 
product management and leadership/team contribution. The Company 
has predetermined benchmarks which must be met in order to trigger 
payments.

On an annual basis, the overall performance of the Company against 
KPIs, and the individual performance of each KMP are taken into 
account when determining the amount, if any, of the variable incentive 
pool that is to be allocated to each executive. 

The aggregate of variable payments available for Executives across 
the Company is subject to the approval of the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee. Payments made are usually delivered in the 
form of options and in some cases, payment of cash bonuses. The 
variable remuneration component of the KMP of the Group and the 
Company is detailed in the table on page 11.

Directors’ report continued
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reMuneration report (auDiteD) continued

employment contracts

chief executive officer

The Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Wood, is employed on a rolling 6 
month contract. Either party may terminate the contract of employment 
by giving 6 month’s notice, or in the case of the Company payment 
in lieu of the notice period. In the case of change in control of the 
entity, Mr Wood may treat this as grounds for terminating the contract 
of employment. As is standard practice in the event of serious 
misconduct by either party this notice period is waived. 

other executives (standard contracts)

All Executives have rolling contracts. The Company may terminate 
the Executive’s employment agreement by providing written notice 
or providing payment in lieu of the notice period (based on the fixed 
component of the Executive’s remuneration). On notice of termination 
by the Company, any options that have vested or that will vest during 
the notice period will be released.  The Company may terminate the 
contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred. 
Where termination with cause occurs the Executive is only entitled 
to that portion of remuneration that is fixed, and only up to the date 
of termination. On termination with cause any unvested options will 
immediately be forfeited.  

relationship of rewards to performance

relationship between remuneration policy and company 
performance

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence 
between shareholders, Directors and Executives. Two methods have 
been applied to achieve this aim, the first being a performance–based 
bonus based on key performance indicators, and the second being the 
issue of options/shares to encourage the alignment of personal and 
shareholder interests.  

The key performance indicators (KPIs) are set annually, with certain 
level of consultation with key management personnel to ensure buy–in. 
The measures are specifically tailored to the area each individual is 
involved in and has a level of control over.  The KPIs target areas the 
Board believes hold greater potential for Group expansion and profit, 
covering financial and non–financial as well as short and long–term 
goals. The level set for each KPI is based on budgeted figures for the 
Group.

Performance in relation to the KPIs is assessed annually, with bonuses 
being awarded depending on the number and deemed difficulty of the 
KPIs achieved. Following the assessment, the KPIs are reviewed by 
the Nominations and Remuneration Committee in light of the desired 
and actual outcomes, and their efficiency is assessed in relation to the 
Group’s goals and shareholder wealth, before the KPIs are set for the 
following year.

prior Year Bonus pool

During the current year, the Company paid out the bonus pool which 
was accrued from the prior year. Any bonuses paid to KMP have 
been disclosed in the Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
in Table (i) on page 11. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer was 
rewarded with a long term incentive award of $50,000 for the prior 
year which, subject to shareholder approval, would be in the form 
of performance shares with deferred vesting entitlement. As shares 
granted to a Director need to be approved by the shareholders a 
resolution to this effect will be put to the shareholders at the upcoming 
Annual General Meeting.

current Year Bonus pool

The Company’s consolidated financial profits are the significant metric 
contributor to Executive Director and KMP bonuses. The operating 
budget for 2009/2010 was set above the actual result for the prior year. 
As the actual operating profit did not exceed the prior year, no current 
bonus arises in respect of the financial performance. In respect of the 
personal performance objectives, whilst these were largely achieved, 
no bonuses will be paid in this respect in view of the performance of 
the overall business in the year.

performance conditions linked to remuneration

The Group seeks to emphasise reward incentives for results and 
continued commitment to the Group through the provision of various 
bonus reward schemes, specifically the incorporation of incentive 
payments based on the achievement of revenue targets, return on 
equity ratios, and continued employment with the Group.  

For the current year ended, subject to Directors’ discretion, the 
financial criteria associated with any variable remuneration (such as 
cash bonuses) has not been met. Accordingly, no current cash bonus 
has been provided for, for the year ended 30 June 2010.

The relative financial performance for the past 5 years is summarised 
below:

Year
reVenue

$’000

net proFit/
(loss)

$’000

share
prices

@ 30 June $ DiViDenD

30 June 2006 15,354 (643) 0.08 –

30 June 2007 11,791 (5,700) 0.14 –

30 June 2008 13,269 (5,936) 0.04 –

30 June 2009 18,459 1,462 0.04 –

30 June 2010 14,347 1,589 0.02 –

Directors’ report continued
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(i) remuneration of key Management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2010

30 June 2010

short–terM post eMploYMent share–BaseD paYMent

total $

%
perForMance 

relateDsalarY & Fees $ Bonus $ superannuation $ options $ shares $

Directors

E Bugg 92,200 – – 1,316 – 93,516 1.4%

S Yencken 51,100 – – – – 51,100 0.0%

R Pickering 53,600 – – – – 53,600 0.0%

J Yuile 56,100 – – – – 56,100 0.0%

A Wood 290,000 – 14,461 – 69,213 373,674 18.5%

executives^^

F Walker 215,000 25,000 49,782 – 5,566 295,348 22.3%

T Arens 213,750 50,000 14,461 – 5,566 283,777 19.6%

C Brooke 175,000 10,000 14,461 – – 199,461 5.0%

N Slack–Smith* 165,850 – 3,615 – – 169,465 0.0%

O Carton # 55,000 – – – – 55,000 0.0%

1,367,600 85,000 96,780 1,316 80,345 1,631,041

^^ For the purposes of this report, the term ‘Executive’ encompasses the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President – Product Management, and 
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, and the Company Secretary.

* Resigned 25 September 2009.

# Razor Risk Technologies has outsourced the company secretary role to Carton Solicitors, which provides the services of Oliver Carton for a fixed monthly fee. Oliver 
Carton performs all the duties associated with the role of Company Secretary in return for this fee. Oliver Carton is also a solicitor and other payments to him shown in 
the above table were made to his law firm in return for legal services.

The Finance Committee is now a formally recognised committee of the Board and remuneration is consistent with the Board’s other committees.

The Company operates under a central global structure and accordingly the previous regional management structure is no longer separately disclosed in 
the Remuneration analysis.

(ii) remuneration of key Management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2009

30 June 2009

short–terM post eMploYMent share–BaseD paYMent long–terM

total $

%
perForMance

relateDsalarY & Fees $ Bonus $ superannuation $ options $ shares $ lsl $

Directors

E Bugg 92,200 – – 6,086 – 98,286 6.2%

S Yencken 51,100 – – – – 51,100 0.0%

R Pickering 51,100 – – – – 51,100 0.0%

J Yuile 51,100 – – – – 51,100 0.0%

A Wood ^ 266,092 15,000 63,745 9,606 – – 354,443 6.9%

J Maranis * 238,920 – 3,436 – 29,483 271,839 0.0%

executives^^

F Walker 119,077 – 12,004 – – 131,081 0.0%

C Brooke 135,000 10,000 12,661 – – 157,661 6.3%

N Slack–Smith 283,500 2,100 13,745 9,606 – – 308,951 3.8%

O Carton # 42,000 – – – – 42,000 0.0%

1,330,089 27,100 105,591 19,212 6,086 29,483 1,517,561

^ Appointed Director 1 February 2009.

* Resigned 11 September 2008.

^^ For the purposes of this report, the term ‘Executive’ encompasses the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Parent and the Group, and the Company Secretary.

# Razor Risk Technologies has outsourced the company secretary role to Carton Solicitors, which provides the services of Oliver Carton for a fixed monthly fee. Oliver 
Carton performs all the duties associated with the role of Company Secretary in return for this fee. Oliver Carton is also a solicitor and other payments to him shown in 
the above table were made to his law firm in return for legal services.

Directors’ report continued
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reMuneration report (auDiteD) continued

(iii) options granted as part of remuneration: granted and vested during the year

VesteD

no. %

30 June 2010

Directors

E Bugg 500,000 100%

total 500,000

30 June 2009

Directors

E Bugg 430,000 86%

S Yencken 1,400,000 100%

total 1,830,000

Directors and Executives have not had any options granted during the year (2009: $0)

For details on the terms of the options, please refer to Note 15.

(iv) shares issued as part of remuneration: issued and vested during the year

no. issue Date Fair Value per share 
at issue Date

Date eXercisaBle

30 June 2010

Directors

A Wood* – – – –

executives

F Walker 625,000 14	Oct	2009 0.024 30	Jun	2011

T Arens 625,000 14	Oct	2009 0.024 30	Jun	2011

total 1,250,000

30 June 2009

Directors

A Wood 1,600,000 23 Dec 2008 0.024 23 Dec 2010

A Wood 8,400 16 Dec 2008 0.024 16 Dec 2010

A Wood 228,571 17 Mar 2009 0.021 17 Mar 2011

executives

C Brooke 123,810 17 Mar 2009 0.021 17 Mar 2011

C Brooke 8,400 16 Dec 2008 0.024 16 Dec 2010

N Slack–Smith^ 1,600,000 23 Dec 2008 0.024 23 Dec 2010

N Slack–Smith^ 8,400 16 Dec 2008 0.024 16 Dec 2010

total 3,577,581

* A Wood was rewarded with a long term incentive award of $50,000 for the prior year which, subject to shareholder approval, would be in the form of performance shares 
with deferred vesting entitlement. As shares granted to a Director need to be approved by the shareholders a resolution to this effect will be put to the shareholders at 
the upcoming Annual General Meeting.

^ Resigned 25 September 2009. 

No other Directors and Executives had any shares granted during the year.

(v) options granted as part of remuneration

Directors and Executives have not had any options granted during the year (2009: $0).

For details on the valuation of the options, including models and assumptions used, please refer to Note 15.

There were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration since their grant date.  The maximum grant, which will be 
payable assuming that all service criteria are met, is equal to the number of options granted multiplied by the fair value at the grant date.  The minimum 
grant payable assuming that service criteria are not met is zero. The option holder must be an employee or Director when the options are exercised.

Directors’ report continued
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Directors’ Meetings

coMMittee MeMBership

As at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit and Risk Management Committee, a Nominations and Remuneration Committee and a Finance 
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Membership is designated as follows in the below table:

a = Audit and Risk Management, r = Nominations and Remuneration, f = Finance

Capital denotes chairman of that committee.

The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during the year and the number of meetings attended by each 
Director was as follows:

Directors’ Meetings auDit anD risk 
ManageMent 

coMMittee

Finance coMMittee noMinations & 
reMuneration 

coMMittee

number of meetings held: 17 5 12 2

number of meetings attended:

E Bugg (R) 16 n/a n/a 2

S Yencken (a, r) 17 5 n/a 2

R Pickering (a, r, f) 17 5 12 2

J Yuile (A, F) 17 5 12 n/a

A Wood 17 n/a n/a n/a

rounDing

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) under the option 
available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

proceeDings on BehalF oF coMpanY

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a 
party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

auDitor inDepenDence anD non–auDit serVices

auDitors’ inDepenDence Declaration

We have obtained an independence declaration in accordance with s307C of the Corporations Act 2001 from our auditors, Grant Thornton Audit Pty 
Ltd, which is attached immediately following the audit report and forms part of this report.

non–auDit serVices

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non–audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The Directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditors’ independence as the nature of the services 
provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.

The following fees were paid or payable to Grant Thornton (GT) Australia for non–audit services provided during the year ended 30 June 2010:

• Taxation Services $69,319

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

ELLIS BUGG

Chairman

Sydney, 19 August 2010

Directors’ report continued
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The Board of Directors of Razor Risk Technologies Limited is 
responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated entity. 
The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of Razor Risk 
Technologies Limited on behalf of the shareholders. 

Razor Risk Technologies Limited’s Corporate Governance Statement 
is structured with reference to the Corporate Governance Council’s 
principles and recommendations (“the Recommendations”), which are 
as follows:

Principle	1.	 Lay solid foundations for management and 
oversight

Principle	2.	 Structure the Board to add value

Principle	3.  Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Principle	4.	 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Principle	5.	 Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle	6.	 Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle	7.	 Recognise and manage risk

Principle	8.	 Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Razor Risk Technologies Limited’s Corporate Governance practices 
were in place throughout the year ended 30 June 2010 unless 
otherwise stated, and were fully compliant with the Recommendations.

BoarD oF Directors anD its coMMittees

The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long–
term shareholder value. To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible 
for the overall corporate governance of the Company including its 
strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring 
the achievement of these goals.  The Board operates under a Charter 
which can be found at http://www.razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–
governance.html. The Charter sets out the function of the Board and 
those delegated to Senior Management.

structure oF the BoarD

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director 
held by each Director in office at the date of the Annual Report is 
included in the Directors’ Report. Directors of Razor Risk Technologies 
Limited are considered to be independent when they are independent 
of management and free from any business or other relationship that 
could materially interfere with – or could reasonably be perceived 
to materially interfere with – the exercise of their unfettered and 
independent judgment, in accordance with Razor Risk Technologies’ 
policy for determining independence

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the 
materiality thresholds set, the following Directors of Razor Risk 
Technologies Limited, who comprise a majority of Directors, are 
considered to be independent:

Name	 	Position

E Bugg  Chairman, Non–executive Director

R Pickering   Non–executive Director

J Yuile  Non–executive Director

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable 
Directors in furtherance of their duties to seek independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense.

The Chairman, Mr Bugg, is an independent Director and is not the 
Chief Executive Officer. 

Mr Wood is not considered to be independent as the Chief Executive 
Officer, and Mr Yencken is not considered to be independent as 
a former executive and a current substantial shareholder of the 
Company. Ms Yuile is considered to be independent as, although she 
is a substantial shareholder, she just exceeds the 5% benchmark and 
does not have, and has never had, any business or other relationship 
with the Company that might interfere, or be perceived to interfere, with 
her exercise of independent judgement.

The term in office held by each Director in office at the date of this 
report is as follows:

Name	 	Term	in	Office

E Bugg  4 years

S Yencken  7 years

R Pickering  4 years

J Yuile  3 years

A Wood  2 years

noMinations anD reMuneration coMMittee

The Company’s Nominations and Remuneration Committee operated 
under a Charter during the period. The Charter can be found at http://
www.razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–governance.html.

The role of the Committee concerning nominations of new directors 
is to support and advise the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to 
shareholders in ensuring that the Board is comprised of individuals who 
are best able to discharge the responsibilities of directors having regard 
to the law and the highest standards of governance.  The Charter sets 
out the methodology for doing so. 

Membership of the Committee is limited to Non–executive Directors, 
and as at the date of this report, all committee members are 
independent Directors other than Mr Yencken. The members of the 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee at the date of this report 
are:

noMinations anD 
reMuneration coMMittee

number of meetings held: 2

number of meetings attended:

E Bugg (Chairman) 2

R Pickering 2

S Yencken 2

The role of shareholders in Directors’ appointments is recognised in 
that: 

• At each AGM, one third of the Directors longest in office (rounded 
up to the nearest whole number) must retire, and may offer 
themselves for re–election by shareholders; and

• There are no agreements between Directors and the Company 
that fetter or remove the ultimate rights of shareholders, and 
shareholders alone, to remove Directors from office.

The Committee also oversees performance and remuneration of senior 
officers and Directors.   The remuneration philosophy of the Company 
and the structure of Non–executive Director and Executive Director 

corporate goVernance stateMent



14 razor risk technologies  annual report 2010   razor risk technologies annual report 2010 15

remuneration are set out in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report. 

The performance and remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 
was reviewed during the period using the guidelines set out in the 
Remuneration Report.  In previous periods the Committee has 
overseen a review of the performance of Non–executive Directors by 
self assessment, and an assessment by individual Directors of the 
Board as a whole.  No performance review was undertaken during 
the Period given the Board’s focus on management and business 
performance.

auDit anD risk ManageMent coMMittee

The Board maintained an Audit and Risk Management Committee 
during the period. This Committee operated under a Charter which 
can be found at http://www.razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–
governance.html. The primary purpose of the Committee is to 
assist the Board to fulfil its corporate governance and oversight 
responsibilities in relation to: 

• Financial Reporting

• Internal Control Structures

• Risk Management Systems

• External Audit Functions

The Committee must comprise at least three Non–executive Directors 
and as at the date of this report, all committee members are 
independent Directors other than Mr Yencken. The members of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee at the date of this report are:

auDit anD risk ManageMent 
coMMittee

number of meetings held: 5

number of meetings attended:

J Yuile (Chairman) 5

R Pickering 5

S Yencken 5

In accordance with the Charter the Chairperson is not Chairman of the 
Board. 

The experience and qualifications of the members of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report. The 
Board considers that the members of the Committee have appropriate 
experience to operate effectively.

The Committee reviews the independence of the auditor and audit 
partner. It does so by reviewing the Independence Declaration given 
by the auditor as part of the Financial Report, and the auditor’s internal 
procedures and policies concerning independence and rotation of audit 
partners.

Finance coMMittee

During the year the Board maintained a Finance Committee the 
function of which is to closely monitor the financial performance, 
budgets and forecasts of the Company and report to the Board on 
those issues. The members of the Finance Committee at the date of 
this report are:

Finance coMMittee

number of meetings held: 12

number of meetings attended:

J Yuile (Chairman) 12

R Pickering 12

risk ManageMent anD internal control 
FraMeWork

During the period, the Company operated a risk management and 
internal control framework that can be described as follows:

risk ManageMent policY

The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy during the period, 
formalising the Board’s approach to risk management, the internal 
control system and reporting on risk. The Risk Management Policy 
can be found at http://www.razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–
governance.html. The policy requires management to regularly 
report on risk and control of risk to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

Financial reporting

• Monthly management financial reports and annual budgets are 
given to and analysed by the Board, Finance Committee and Audit 
and Risk Committee as appropriate;

• Monthly actual results reported against budget and revised 
forecasts for the year are prepared monthly;

• In addition, the Finance Committee closely monitors the financial 
operations; 

• The Company reports reviewed financial results to shareholders 
half–yearly; and 

• Procedures are also in place to ensure that price sensitive 
information is reported to the ASx in accordance with the 
Continuous Disclosure requirements of the ASx Listing Rules and 
the Corporations Act 2001.

coDe oF conDuct

The Company has established a Code of Conduct that outlines 
the principles, policies and laws that govern the activities of the 
Company, and to which its Directors, employees, temporary workers, 
independent contractors and consultants must adhere.  A summary 
of the Code of Conduct can be found at http://www.razor–risk.com/
investors/corporate–governance.html.  The purpose of the Code of 
Conduct is to:

• Promote honest and ethical conduct, including fair dealing and the 
proactive evaluation and handling of actual and apparent conflicts 
of interest;

• Promote full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in 
reports and documents that are filed with, or submitted to the ASx, 
ASIC, any other statutory authority, or any other stock market or 
exchange, and in other public communications;

• Ensure compliance with applicable laws and governmental rules 
and regulations; 

• Ensure the protection of the Company’s business interests, 
including corporate opportunities, assets and confidential 
information; and 

• Encourage reporting of illegal and unethical behaviour, and deter 
wrongdoing.

corporate goVernance stateMent continued
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risk ManageMent anD internal control 
FraMeWork continued

QualitY anD integritY oF personnel 

• Formal appraisals are conducted at least annually for management 
and staff;

• The Company has written policies and procedures concerning 
issues such as health and safety in the workplace, harassment 
and equal opportunity which can be found in the Code of Conduct 
document.

inVestMent appraisal 

The Company has clearly defined guidelines for capital expenditure. 
These include annual budgets, detailed appraisal and review 
procedures, and levels of authority and due diligence requirements 
where businesses are being acquired or divested.  

Delegation

The Board has developed a Delegations Manual covering delegated 
authorities.  The manual outlines approval limits for various categories 
of authority including the commitment of expenditure. Approval for 
commitments outside of the authorities stated is required, and the 
manual sets out what type of approval is required for the different types 
of commitment.  

FrauD anD corruption preVention policY

The Board has adopted a Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy.  The 
Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy can be found at http://www.
razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–governance.html.

The objectives of the policy are:

• To provide a clear statement to staff forbidding any fraudulent or 
illegal activity;

• To ensure that management is aware of its responsibilities for 
identifying possible areas of exposure to fraudulent activity and for 
establishing controls and procedures to prevent such fraudulent 
activity;

• To provide guidance to employees as to action that should be taken 
where they suspect any fraudulent or corrupt activity; and

• To provide guidelines for conducting investigations into fraudulent 
and corrupt activities.

share traDing BY Directors anD senior eMploYees

The Company has adopted a Share Trading Policy which can be found 
at http://www.razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–governance.html. 
The policy:

• Prohibits trading within specific time periods when it will be 
assumed Directors and senior employees are likely to be in 
possession of price sensitive information not known to the market, 
and trading at any time when Directors and senior employees are 
actually in possession of such information;

• Prevents short term or speculative trading by those persons; and

• Requires the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer to be informed 
before trading of any sort occurs.

Directors must advise the ASx of any transactions conducted by 
them in shares in the Company. Each Director has entered into a 
written agreement with the Company whereby the Director agrees to 

advise the Company of any trading to enable the Company to fulfil its 
obligations to advise ASx.

Disclosure anD shareholDer coMMunication

The Company has established a Disclosure Policy which can be found 
at http://www.razor–risk.com/investors/corporate–governance.html. 
The policy is to ensure compliance with ASx Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for 
that compliance. The Disclosure Policy also deals with communication 
to shareholders to ensure effective, clear and equal communications 
with shareholders. 

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed of all major 
developments affecting the consolidated entity’s state of affairs. 
Information is communicated to shareholders as follows:

• The annual report contains a review of the operations of the 
consolidated entity during the period. The audited financial report 
is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and is 
lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission 
and the Australian Stock Exchange. The full financial report is 
available to all shareholders on request;

• Proposed major changes in the consolidated entity which may 
impact on share ownership rights are submitted to a vote of 
shareholders;

• Notice of all meetings of shareholders is given to all shareholders, 
with appropriate explanatory material;

• The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability 
and identification with the consolidated entity’s strategy and goals. 
Important issues are presented to the shareholders as single 
resolutions. The Company’s auditor attends the Annual General 
Meeting to answer questions that shareholders may have, and 
appropriate time is allowed at the meeting for such questions. 

chieF eXecutiVe oFFicer anD chieF Financial oFFicer 
sign oFF

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided 
the Board with a statement regarding the integrity of the 2010 full year 
financial statements.  This sign off is based on the existence of a robust 
and effective financial statement close process which ensures that the 
resultant financial statements comply with accounting standards and 
provide a true and fair view of the Company’s financial performance 
and position. 

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided 
sign–off on the risk management and internal compliance and controls 
in place throughout the period and the effectiveness of such controls.

corporate goVernance stateMent continued
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stateMent oF coMprehensiVe incoMe
For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

consoliDateD

note 2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Revenue from continuing operations 4(a) 14,140 18,272

Direct Labour (6,353) (10,136)

Direct Margin 7,787 8,136

Other income 4(b) 207 187

operating expenditure

Direct sales expenses (1,207) (1,400)

Marketing expenses (262) (165)

Occupancy expenses (711) (735)

Administration expenses 4(c) (3,881) (3,344)

Other expenses 4(d) (659) (318)

profit before tax and share–based payments 1,274 2,361

Share–based payment expense 15,20 (106) (122)

Profit  before income tax 1,168 2,239

Income tax (expense) / credit 5 1,075 (22)

net profit for the period from continuing operations 2,243 2,217

Loss for the period from discontinued operations 7 (654) (755)

net profit for the period 1,589 1,462

other comprehensive income for the year, after tax

Currency (loss) on translation of subsidiary (93) (194)

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive  income  – 	 –

other comprehensive income for the year, after tax (93) (194)

total comprehensive income for the year 1,496 1,268

Total comprehensive income attributed to owners of the parent 1,496 1,268

overall operations

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 6 0.56 0.53

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 6 0.54 0.49

continuing operations

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 0.79 0.80

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 0.77 0.74

Discontinued operations

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (0.23) (0.27)

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) (0.23) (0.27)

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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stateMent oF Financial position
as at 30 June 2010

consoliDateD

note 2010
$’000

2009
$’000

assets

current assets

cash and cash equivalents 8 3,374 3,139

Trade and other receivables 9 821 1,459

Prepayments 214 134

accrued revenue 11 22 95

Total Current Assets 4,431 4,827

non–current assets

Financial assets 10 374 489

Property, plant and equipment 12 399 446

Deferred tax asset 17 1,075  –

Goodwill 13 3,085 3,290

total non–current assets 4,933 4,225

total assets 9,364 9,052

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 987 1,302

Short–term provisions 18 497 632

Unearned revenue 1,331 1,966

total current liabilities 2,815 3,900

non–current liabilities

Long–term provisions 18 111 311

Deferred lease incentive 19 415 420

total non–current liabilities 526 731

total liaBilities 3,341 4,631

net assets 6,023 4,421

eQuitY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued capital 20 52,506 52,451

accumulated losses (49,663) (51,252)

Reserves 20 3,180 3,222

total eQuitY 6,023 4,421

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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stateMent oF changes in eQuitY
For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

consoliDateD

issueD capital
$’000

accuMulateD losses
$’000

other reserVes 
$’000

total 
$’000

changes in equity for period

Balance at 1 July 2008 52,212 (52,714) 3,318 2,816

net comprehensive income for the period  – 1,462 (194) 1,268

Issue of share capital (Note 20) 65  –  – 65

Conversion of Management Loans (Note 20) 151  –  – 151

Share–based payment (Note 20) 23  –  – 121

at 30 June 2009 52,451 (51,252) 3,222 4,421

changes in equity for period

Balance at 1 July 2009 52,451 (51,252) 3,222 4,421

net comprehensive income for the period  – 1,589 (93) 1,496

Share–based payment (Note 20) 55  – 51 106

at 30 June 2010 52,506 (49,663) 3,180 6,023

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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stateMent oF cash FloW
Financial report 30 June 2010

consoliDateD

note 2010
$’000

2009
$’000

cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 13,925 19,676

payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of gst) (13,558) (17,863)

Interest received 45 33

Government grant received 4(b) 161 150

income taxes paid 5 	 – (22)

net cash flows provided by operating activities 8(a) 573 1,974

cash flows from investing activities

Payment for acquisition of halcyon 	 – (302)

Repayment of loans 	 – (27)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (221) (77)

net cash flows (used in) investing activities (221) (406)

cash flows from Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares and options 	 –  –

net cash flows provided by financing activities 	 –  –

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 352 1,568

Net foreign exchange differences (117) (33)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3,139 1,604

cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 8 3,374 3,139

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

notes to the Financial stateMents



20 razor risk technologies  annual report 2010   razor risk technologies annual report 2010 21

notes to the Financial stateMents
For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

1. corporate inForMation

This annual report covers both Razor Risk Technologies Limited and its 
controlled entities as a consolidated entity. The Group’s functional and 
presentation currency is AUD ($).

The financial statements of Razor Risk Technologies Limited (the 
Company) for the year ended 30 June 2010 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 19 August 2010.

Razor Risk Technologies Limited is a Company limited by shares 
incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the 
Australian Stock Exchange.

The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial 
period comprised the development and integration of risk management 
software for the financial sector. 

2. suMMarY oF signiFicant accounting 
policies

Basis oF preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
“Corporations Act 2001” including Australian Accounting Standards, 
Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The 
financial statements have also been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the 
measurement at fair value of selected non–current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis 
and reflect the Company’s move to full profitability and positive cash 
flow. Improved gross margins and client profitability, and the further 
reduction of annualised operating costs have satisfied the Board and 
Management of the Company’s improving success and continued 
achievement of positive operational cash flows.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless 
otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under 
ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the 
class order applies.

(a) stateMent oF coMpliance

The financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards, 
which ensures compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

(B) neW accounting stanDarDs anD interpretations

The AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and 
interpretations that have mandatory application dates for future 
reporting periods The Group has decided against early adoption of 
these standards with the exception for the early adoption of AASB 
8 and AASB 2007–3. A discussion of those future requirements and 
their impact on the Group follows. Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are 
not yet effective have not been adopted by the Group for the annual 
reporting period ended 30 June 2010. These are outlined in the table 
below.
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notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

2. suMMarY oF signiFicant accounting policies continued

aasB aMenDMent
aFFecteD 
stanDarD(s)

nature oF change 
to accounting policY

applicaBle For 
annual reporting 
perioDs suMMarY

AASB 1 First time adoption of 
Australian Accounting 
Standards (May 2009) 
– “AASB 1R”

Structure of the standard has been 
amended for ease of use.  

Commencing from 
1 July 2010

The Interpretation 
is not expected to 
impact the Group.

AASB 9 
and 
AASB 2009–11

Financial Instruments. 
AASB 2009–11 
amendments arising  
from AASB 9

Introduces new requirements for the 
classification and measurement of 
financial assets. Uses a single approach 
to determine whether a financial asset 
is measured at amortised cost or fair 
value, replacing the many different rules in 
AASAB 139 and removes the impairment 
requirement for financial assets held at fair 
value.

Ending on or after 
31 Dec 2013

Depending on assets 
held, there may be 
significant movement 
of assets between 
fair value and cost 
categories and 
ceasing of impairment 
testing on available for 
sale assets.

AASB 124 
and 
AASB 2009–12

Related Party 
Disclosures.  AASB 
2009–12 amendments 
arising from AASB 124

This revision amends the disclosure 
requirements for government related 
entities and the definition of a related party.

Ending on or after 
31 Dec 2011

Unlikely to have any 
significant impact on 
the Group.

AASB 1039 Concise Financial 
Reports (August 2008)

Incorporates amendments to terminology 
and descriptions of the financial statements 
to achieve consistency with AASB 101 
and the rewording of the disclosure 
requirements relating to segments to 
achieve consistency with AASB 8.

Commencing from 
1 January 2010

The Interpretation is 
not expected to have 
any impact on the 
Group.

AASB 2007–10 Further Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 101

This makes a number of consequential 
amendments to a number of accounting 
standards arising from the revision of AASB 
101 in September 2007. The changes are 
largely to terminology for example changing 
the term ‘general purpose financial 
statements’ and the term ‘financial report’ 
to ‘financial statements’, where relevant, in 
Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) to better align with IFRS 
terminology.

Commencing from 
1 January 2010

The Interpretation is 
not expected to have 
any impact on the 
Group.

AASB 2008–9 Amendments to AASB 
1049 for Consistency 
with AASB 101

This makes amendments to AASB 1049 
to ensure consistency with AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements 
(September 2007). This alignment is 
consistent with the broad approach 
taken in the AASB’s Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles/Government Finance 
Statistics (GAAP/GFS) harmonisation 
project.

Commencing from 
1 January 2010

This standard will not 
have any impact on 
the Group.

AASB 2008–11 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standard – Business 
Combinations Among 
Not–for–Profit Entities 
(AASB 3)

This amendment mandates that the 
requirements in AASG 3 (March 2008) 
are applicable to business combinations 
among not–for–profit entities (other than 
restructures of local governments) that are 
not commonly controlled. It also allows 
those requirements to be early adopted 
by not–for–profit entities. Also included are 
specific recognition, measurement and 
disclosure requirements relating to local 
government restructures.

Commencing from 
1 July 2010

This standard will not 
have any impact on 
the Group.
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notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

aasB aMenDMent
aFFecteD 
stanDarD(s)

nature oF change 
to accounting policY

applicaBle For 
annual reporting 
perioDs suMMarY

AASB 2009–4 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising 
from the Annual 
Improvements 
Project [AASB 2, 
AASB 138 and AASB 
Interpretations 9 & 16]

Makes various amendments to a number 
of standards and interpretations in line with 
the IASB annual improvements project.

Commencing from 
1 July 2010

This amendment is not 
expected to materially 
affect the Group.

AASB 2009–5 Further amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project 
[AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 
118, 136, 139]

Makes various amendments to a number 
of standards and interpretations in line with 
the IASB annual improvements project.

Commencing from 
1 January 2011

This amendment is not 
expected to materially 
affect the Group.

AASB 2009–9 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Additional 
Exemptions for First–
time Adopters

Makes amendments to ensure that entities 
applying Australian Accounting Standards 
for the first time will not face undue cost or 
effort in the transition process in particular 
situations.

Commencing from 
1 January 2011

This amendment is not 
expected to materially 
affect the Group.

AASB 2009–10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Classification of Rights 
Issues

Makes amendments which clarify that 
rights, options or warrants to acquire a 
fixed number of an entity’s own equity 
instruments for a fixed amount in any 
currency are equity instruments if the entity 
offers the rights, options or warrants pro 
rata to all existing owners of the same class 
of its non–derivative equity instruments.

Ending on or after 
31 January 2011

Potentially significant 
if rights issues have 
been offered and 
denominated in foreign 
currency.

AASB 2009–13 Amendments to 
AASB 1 arising from 
Interpretation 19

This standard amends AASB 1 to allow a 
first–time adopter to use the transitional 
provisions in Interpretation 19.

Ending on or after 
30 June 2011

This amendment is not 
expected to materially 
affect the Group.

AASB 2010–01 Limited exemption 
from comparative 
AASB 7 disclosures 
for first time adopters 
(Amendments to AASB 
1 and AASB 7)

These amendments principally give effect 
to extending the transition provisions of 
AASB 2009–2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments to 
first–time adopters of Australian Accounting 
Standards.

Ending on or after 
30 June 2011

Reduced disclosures 
for first–time adopters.

IFRS Annual Improvements 
2010 (May 2010)

Various Makes various amendments to a number of 
standards and interpretations.

Application dates 
either 30 June 2011 or 
31 Dec 2011

Likely impact will 
vary depending on 
relevance, however 
it is not expected to 
materially affect the 
Group.

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments

Addresses the accounting by an entity 
when the terms of a financial liability 
are renegotiated and result in the entity 
issuing equity instruments to a creditor to 
extinguish all or part of th financial liability. 
These transactions are sometimes referred 
to as ‘debt for equity swaps’.

Ending on or after 
30 June 2011

Significant if the entity 
has renegotiated any 
financial liabilities to 
equity instruments.

AASB 2009–14 Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
Requirement. 
(Amendments to 
Interpretation 14).

Addresses the unintended consequences 
that can arise from the previous 
requirement when an entity prepays future 
contributions into a defined benefit pension 
plan.

Ending on or after 
31 Dec 2011

Possibly significant 
if the entity has 
a defined benefit 
pension plan.

The full year consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the same accounting policies as used in the annual financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2009.
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2. suMMarY oF signiFicant accounting 
policies continued

(c) Basis oF consoliDation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of Razor Risk Technologies Limited and its subsidiaries as 
at 30 June each year (the Group).

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting 
policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter–company 
balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses 
resulting from intra–group transactions have been eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred out of the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries held by Razor Risk Technologies Limited 
are accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the 
parent entity.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method of accounting, which involves allocating the cost of the 
business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and the 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

(D) signiFicant accounting JuDgeMents, estiMates 
anD assuMptions

(i) significant accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, 
management has not made any accounting judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, including recognised 
deferred income tax assets.

(ii) significant accounting estimates and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often 
determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events. The 
key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an 
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. The 
assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the 
carrying amount of goodwill are discussed in Note 14.

share–based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity–settled transactions with 
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using 
a Black–Scholes model, except for options with a market condition 
attached, which are valued using a Monte–Carlo model using the 
assumptions detailed in Note 15.

provision for impairment of receivables

Included in trade receivables at reporting date is an amount receivable 
from sales made to Timbercorp Limited in March/April 2009 amounting 
to $171,000. Timbercorp Limited went into voluntary receivership 
in April 2009.  While there is inherent uncertainty in relation to the 
outcome of the liquidation, the Directors understand that the full 

amount of the debt is unlikely to be recoverable from the receivers, and 
therefore 100% provision for impairment has been made.

(e) research anD DeVelopMent

Product research and development costs are fully expensed unless 
the development expenditure meets certain capitalisation recognition 
criteria.

(F) reVenue recognition

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised upon the 
performance of services to the Group’s clients. Revenue from the 
provision of services in a fixed price contract is determined by 
measurement of stage of completion having regard to the work effort 
outstanding and its associated direct costs.

Revenue from the provision of products including licenses is recognised 
upon the delivery of the product to the client. Revenue recognition is 
dependent on the specific contractual obligations of both parties. 

Maintenance fee revenue and other forms of software support are 
recognised over the period of the agreement which is normally 12 
months.

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the interest 
effective method.

(g) unearneD reVenue

Revenue is classified as unearned when it is billed in advance of 
software support and maintenance service delivery. Software support 
and maintenance contracts are invoiced annually and revenue is 
recognised evenly over the period of the contract.

(h) goVernMent grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be 
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant 
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

(i) Finance costs

Where applicable, finance costs are expensed as incurred unless they 
relate to qualifying assets where borrowing costs are capitalised.

(J) leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is 
based on the substance of the arrangement and requires assessment 
of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use 
the asset.

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised 
at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, 
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction 
of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as an 
expense in the income statement.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of 
the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases and 

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010
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payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a 
straight–line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are 
recognised as a liability when received and subsequently reduced by 
allocating lease payments between rental expense and reduction of the 
liability.

lease liability incentive 

On 1 March 2008 the Parent Entity moved to new premises at 115 
Pitt Street Sydney. As part of the move, the landlord provided a rent 
reduction incentive being equal to a 50% reduction in monthly rent 
payable for the first 18 months of occupation. The rental incentive 
income and corresponding expense will be amortised on a straight line 
basis over the term of the lease.

(k) cash anD cash eQuiValents

Cash and short–term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at 
bank and in hand and short–term deposits with an original maturity of 
four months or less, that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above. 

(l) traDe anD other receiVaBles

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, are recognised 
and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts.

An allowance for provision for impairment is made when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts. 
Bad debts are written off when identified.

(M) iMpairMent oF Financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets carried at fair value

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition). 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through 
use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in 
the income statement.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and 
individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant 
or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets 
is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or 
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent 
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost 
at the reversal date.

(n) Foreign currencY translation

Both the functional and presentation currency of Razor Risk 
Technologies Limited and its Australian subsidiaries are Australian 
dollars (AUS$). Each entity in the Group determines its own functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional 
currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date.

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken 
to the income statement except for those arising on translation of 
foreign operations as noted below.

The functional currency of the foreign operations are as follows: Razor 
Risk Technologies Limited (UK) is Great Britain Pounds (GBP); Razor 
Risk Technologies Inc. is United States Dollars (US$) and IT&e Software 
India Private Limited is India Rupee (INR).

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these overseas 
subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Razor Risk 
Technologies Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date and the income statements are translated at the weighted 
average exchange rate for the year. 

The exchange differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly 
to a separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount 
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement.

(o) incoMe taX

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences except: 

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss; or

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates; or 

• interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry–forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry–
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

notes to the Financial stateMents continued
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notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

2. suMMarY oF signiFicant accounting 
policies continued

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, 
in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are 
recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

tax consolidated legislation

Razor Risk Technologies Limited and its wholly–owned Australian 
controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 
July 2004. Refer Note 5 for further information.

(p) other taXes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
GST except:

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item as applicable; and

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST 
included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance 
sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross 
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

(Q) propertY, plant anD eQuipMent

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of 
replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection 
is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight–line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the assets as follows for both 2010 and 2009:

Furniture and fittings   5 years

Office and computer equipment and software 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.

(i) impairment

For property, plant and equipment, refer to Note 2(U) for the impairment 
accounting policy.

(ii) Derecognition and disposal

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year the asset is 
derecognised.

(r) DeriVatiVe Financial instruMents

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign 
currency contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency 
fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair 
value.

The fair value of forward contracts is calculated be reference to current 
forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(s) inVestMents anD other Financial assets

investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the separate 
financial statements of Razor Risk Technologies Limited.

term deposits

held to maturity investments are non–derivative financial assets that 
have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments, and it is the 
Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.  Term deposits 
are typically made for periods greater than four months and are subject 
to a bank guarantee held by an unrelated part as security. 

investments (other than investments in subsidiaries) and other 
financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement” are classified as either financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held–to–
maturity investments, or available–for–sale investments, as appropriate. 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair 
value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or 
loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when 
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allowed and appropriate, re–evaluates this designation at each financial 
year–end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised 
on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase 
the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets 
within the period established generally by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace.

loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non–derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the 
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process.

(t) gooDWill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at 
cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash–generating units, or groups of cash generating units, 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are 
assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units 
to which the goodwill is so allocated:

• represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes; and

• is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or 
the Group’s secondary reporting format determined in accordance 
with AASB 8 “Operating Segments.”

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the 
cash–generating unit (group of cash–generating units), to which the 
goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the cash–generating 
unit (group of cash–generating units) is less than the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. When goodwill forms 
part of a cash–generating unit (group of cash–generating units) and 
an operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of 
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the 
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is measured based on 
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the 
cash generating unit retained.

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently 
reversed.

(u) iMpairMent oF non–Financial assets other than 
gooDWill

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group 
makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 

recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in 
use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the 
asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash generating unit to 
which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using pre–tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing 
operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there 
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may 
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. Such reversal is recognised in the income 
statement.  After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in 
future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any 
residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(V) traDe anD other paYaBles

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior 
to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the 
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30–45 days of recognition.

Financial guarantees

The fair value of the cross guarantee that exists between Razor Risk 
Technologies Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary Razor Risk 
Technologies Services Pty Ltd as discussed in Note 23 has been 
assessed considering the likelihood of default, the exposure to default 
and the probability of liability.

Management reviews the (i) likelihood of default; (ii) exposure to default; 
and (iii) probability of liability at each balance date before determining 
the fair value of the financial guarantee.

(W) proVisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, 
for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in 
the income statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre–tax 
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the liability.

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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2. suMMarY oF signiFicant accounting 
policies continued

(X) eMploYee leaVe BeneFits 

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non–monetary benefits and 
annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in employee benefits in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The Group does not 
have any accumulating sick leave.

(ii) long service leave

A liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
balance date.  Employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made from those benefits.  Those cash flows are 
discounted using market yields on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. 
Employee benefits payable later than 9 years or more have been 
reclassified in Current Liabilities.

(Y) closeD share perioD

Razor Risk Technologies’ share trading period commences from the 
full year balance date, normally 30 June of each year, and ends on 
release of the announcement of the Company’s annual results.  The 
half year share trading period commences from the half year balance 
date, normally 31 December of each year, and ends on release of the 
Company’s half–yearly report.

(z) share–BaseD paYMent transactions

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior Executives 
and Directors) of the Group in the form of share–based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for 
shares or rights over shares (‘equity–settled transactions’).

There are currently two plans in place to provide these benefits:

(i)  the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to 
Directors and senior Executives; and

(ii)  the Employee Share Acquisition Plan (ESAP), which provides 
benefits to all employees, including senior Executives and Directors.

The cost of these equity–settled transactions with employees is 
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 
granted. The fair value is determined using a Black–Scholes model, 
except for options with a market condition attached, which are valued 
using a Monte–Carlo model.

In valuing equity–settled transactions, no account is taken of any 
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of 
the shares of Razor Risk Technologies Limited (‘market conditions’) if 
applicable.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity–settled transactions at 
each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the 
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment 
is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met 
as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair 
value at grant date. The income statement charge or credit for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, 
except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 
condition.

If the terms of an equity–settled award are modified, as a minimum 
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In 
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases 
the total fair value of the share–based payment arrangement, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of 
modification. 

If an equity–settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested 
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for 
the award is recognised immediately. however, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement 
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award 
are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (see 
Note 6).

The Directors have suspended the company’s ESOP and ESAP as a 
result of the changes announced in the May 2009 Federal Government 
Budget.

(aa) contriButeD eQuitY

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(aB) earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated as the net profit 
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude costs of 
servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the 
parent, adjusted for:

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);– the after tax effect 
of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares that have been recognised as expenses;

• other non–discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during 
the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary 
shares, and divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 
element.

(ac) terM Deposits

held to maturity investments are non–derivative financial assets that 
have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments, and it is the 
Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.  Term deposits 
are typically made for periods greater than four months and are subject 
to a bank guarantee held by an unrelated part as security. 

3. segMent inForMation

Management currently identifies the Group as having only one 
operating segment being the development and integration of risk 
management software for the financial sector. This operating segment 
is monitored and strategic decisions are made on this basis. There 
have been no changes in operating segments during the period.

The operating result presented in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income represents the same segment information as reported to the 
Company’s Chief Operating decision maker.
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4. reVenue anD eXpenses

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

revenue and expenses from total operations

(a) revenue

Sale of goods 12,436 16,113

Rendering of services 1,704 2,159

14,140 18,272

(b) other income

government grant (i) 161 150

Interest revenue 45 33

Security deposit refund 	 – 4

Proceeds of sale of surplus asset 1  –

207 187

(c) administrative expenses

Employee benefits expenses (ii)

Wages and salaries 2,873 1,682

Workers’ compensation costs 20 24

Superannuation 233 99

Employer related taxes 188 106

Terminations 280 254

Other employee costs 61 122

Share based payments 109 122

3,764 2,409

(d) other expenses

Interest expense 6 29

Loss on write–off of Indian assets 21  –

Bad and doubtful debts – trade debtors 	 – 178

Depreciation of plant and equipment, owned 204 198

Impairment of goodwill 205  –

Net foreign exchange differences 223 (87)

659 318

(e) lease payments included in income statement

Operating lease expense 627 657

627 657

(i)  An Export Market Development Grant was received in relation to promoting and marketing the Company’s products in overseas markets. There are no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies attaching to this grant.

(ii) Employee benefits expense is outside of cost services and relates to employee expenses pertaining to administration and support functions.
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5. incoMe taX

The major components of income tax are:

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

income statement

Current tax 248 22

Deferred tax 195  –

Recoupment of prior year tax losses (48)  –

Recognition of deferred tax (1,470)  –

Income tax reported in the income statement (1,075) 22

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before income tax 
rate is as follows:

Accounting profit before income tax 514 1,484

At the Groups statutory income tax rate of 30% 154 445

Add tax effect of:

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 66 63

Share–based payment expense 27 37

Tax losses utilised previously not recognised (48)  –

Estimated tax losses recouped 	 – (523)

Prior tax losses recognised (732)  –

Temporary differences recognised (537)  –

Under/over provision from prior year (5)  –

Income tax reported in the income statement (1,075) 22

At 30 June 2010, there are unrecognised net deferred tax assets arising from the differences in the accounting and tax cost bases of the Group and 
unrecognised tax losses not brought to account.  The Group has unrecouped post–consolidation income tax losses arising in Australia of $28,286,001 
(2009: $28,445,114) that are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.  

As of the date of this report, the Directors and Management are of the opinion that the Company meets the requirements and guidelines of AASB 112 
Income Taxes for recognition of the Company’s prior historical losses recorded to date.

The Directors and Management believe the partial recognition of deferred income tax assets is appropriate, given the following criteria assessed 
(probable requirements):

• The Company has two years of actual taxable profits on a normalised basis;

• Immediate FY 10/11 budgets indicate further profits.

At 30 June 2010, there is no recognised or unrecognised deferred income tax liability (2009: $nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 
earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, associate or joint venture, as the Group has no liability for additional taxation should such amounts be 
remitted.

taX consoliDation

Razor Risk Technologies Limited and its 100% Australian owned subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidation group with effect from 1 July 2004. Razor 
Risk Technologies Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order 
to allocate income tax expense between the wholly–owned subsidiaries on a pro–rata basis.  In addition the agreement provides for the allocation of 
income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations.
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taX eFFect accounting BY MeMBers oF the taX consoliDateD group

The tax funding agreement provides for the allocation of current taxes to members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with an acceptable 
allocation method under Interpretation 1052, while deferred taxes will be allocated to members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with 
the principles of AASB 112 “Income Taxes”. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement are recognised as an increase/decrease in the 
subsidiaries’ inter–company accounts with the tax consolidated group head company, Razor Risk Technologies Limited in accordance with Interpretation 
1052 “Tax Consolidation Accounting”. 

6. earnings per share

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Net profit from continuing operations 2,243 2,217

Net loss from discontinued operations (654) (755)

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 1,589 1,462

								Thousands 								Thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 283,954 277,063

Weighted average number of ordinary shares & options for diluted earnings per share 289,888 297,501

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would significantly change the number of ordinary shares or 
potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements.

7. DiscontinueD operations

In March 2010, Management announced their decision to discontinue the Indian operation of IT&e Software India Private Limited, close down the branch 
office based in Chennai, and transfer the remaining processes and intellectual capital of the PTx product from Chennai to Melbourne. The intention was 
to support the Company’s PTx clients with staff from Melbourne.

The following strategies have been enacted on the basis of minimising the financial burden of exiting the Chennai location:

• Transfer of the PTx product support and maintenance function to the Melbourne office completed April 2010;

• Closure of the Chennai branch office completed 28 June 2010.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operations is set out below.

consoliDateD

note 2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Revenue 	 –  –

Direct Labour (276) (374)

Direct Margin (276) (374)

Loss on write–off of Indian assets (21) 	 –

Other expenses from ordinary activities (152) (381)

Goodwill impairment 13 (205) 	 –

loss before income tax (654) (755)

Income tax expense 	 – 	 –

total loss after tax attributable to discontinuing operations (654) (755)
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7.  DiscontinueD operations continued

The net cash flows of the discontinued operations which have been incorporated into the cash flow statement are as follows:

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities (449) (1,044)

net cash (decrease in cash) generated by the discontinued operations (449) (1,044)

8. cash anD cash eQuiValents

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Cash at bank and in hand 2,643 1,254

Short–term deposits 731 1,885

3,374 3,139

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Short–term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day 
and four months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short–term deposit rates.
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(a) reconciliation oF net proFit / (loss) aFter taX to net cash FloWs FroM operations

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Net Profit 1,589 1,462

adjustments for: 

Deferred tax asset recognised (1,075)  –

Depreciation 211 198

Goodwill impairment 205  –

Disposal of assets 57  –

Loss on write–off of Indian assets 21  –

Interest paid 	 – 12

Rent incentive received (5) 158

Bad debts 	 – 178

Share–based payment expense 109 122

Foreign currency translation (117) 33

changes in assets and liabilities

Decrease in financial assets (current) 20 322

Decrease in trade and other receivables 566 541

(Increase) in prepayments (69) (11)

Decrease in accrued revenue 74 866

Decrease in financial assets (non–current) 271 (662)

(Decrease)  in trade and other payables (403) (373)

(Decrease) in provisions (current liabilities) (46) (379)

(Decrease) in unearned revenue (635) (444)

(Decrease) in non–current liabilities (200) (49)

Net cash provided by operating activities 573 1,974

(B) non–cash Financing anD inVesting actiVities

Nil

(c) oVerDraFt FacilitY

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Overdraft facility 400  –

Amount utilised 	 –  –

400  –
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9. traDe anD other receiVaBles (current)

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Trade receivables 898 1,464

Allowance for impairment loss (A) (171) (171)

Other receivables 94 166

821 1,459

(a) alloWance For iMpairMent loss

Trade receivables are non–interest bearing and are generally on 30–90 day terms.  

The following table details the Group’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk with aging analysis and impairment, provided for thereon. 
Amounts are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settled with the terms and conditions agreed between the Group and the customer. 
Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific 
circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Group.

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered to be of high credit quality.

consoliDateD

gross 
aMount

past Due anD 
iMpaireD

past Due But not iMpaireD (DaYs oVerDue)
Within initial 
traDe terMs< 30 31 – 60 61 – 90 > 90

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2010

Trade & Term Receivables 898 171 42 4 32 	 – 649

Other Receivables 94 	 – 	 – 	 – 4 90 	 –

Total 992 171 42 4 36 90 649

2009

Trade & Term Receivables 1,464 171 243  – 7 9 1,034

Other Receivables 166  –  –  –  – 140 26

Total 1,630 171 243  – 7 149 1,060

The Group does not hold any financial asset with terms that have been renegotiated, but which would otherwise be past due or impaired.

For the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group has not made any further provisioning for doubtful debts (2009: $170,685). An impairment assessment is 
undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that a related party receivable is impaired. When such evidence exists (ie. a company is in receivership), the Group 
recognises an allowance for the impairment loss. 

Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

opening 
Balance

$’000

charge For  
the Year

$’000

aMounts  
Written oFF

$’000

closing 
Balance

$’000

1.7.2009 30.6.2010

consolidated group

Provision for impairment 171 – – 171

171 – – 171
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(B) Fair Value anD creDit risk

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.  Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the Group’s policy to transfer (on–sell) 
receivables to special purpose entities.

(c) Foreign eXchange anD interest rate risk

Detail regarding foreign exchange and interest rate risk exposure is disclosed in Note 21.

10. Financial assets

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

non–current

Term Deposits (i) 340 427

Rental Bonds (ii) 34 62

374 489

(i)  Term deposits typically made for periods greater than four months are usually subject to a bank guarantee held by an unrelated party as security. Interest is earned at the 
respective term deposit rate. The Group’s financial assets have been classified as non–current due to their long–term nature.  Term deposits are held to maturity.

(ii)  Rental bonds are amounts paid to landlords as financial security in respect of office space leased. They are subject to fixed interest rates.

11. accrueD reVenue

Revenue is accrued when a service is performed but not yet invoiced. Service revenue is invoiced in arrears and accrued monthly.
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12. propertY, plant anD eQuipMent

consoliDateD

Furniture & 
Fittings

oFFice &coMputer 
eQuipMent & 

soFtWare

leaseholD 
incentiVe 

Furniture & 
Fittings

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2010

At 1 July 2009, net of accumulated depreciation 103 174 169 446

Additions 	 – 221 	 – 221

Disposals (64) (521) 	 – (585)

Depreciation for the year (28) (153) (30) (211)

Accumulated depreciated – disposals 61 467 	 – 528

At 30 June 2010, net of accumulated depreciation 72 188 139 399

at 1 July 2009

Cost or fair value 258 1,626 199 2,083

Accumulated depreciation (155) (1,453) (30) (1,637)

Net carrying amount 103 173 169 446

at 30 June 2010

Cost or fair value 190 1,076 209 1,475

Accumulated depreciation (118) (888) (70) (1,076)

Net carrying amount 72 188 139 399

consoliDateD

Furniture & 
Fittings

oFFice &coMputer 
eQuipMent & 

soFtWare

leaseholD 
incentiVe 

Furniture & 
Fittings

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2009

At 1 July 2008, net of accumulated depreciation 125 242 199 566

Additions 8 69  – 77

Disposals  – (40)  – (40)

Depreciation for the year (30) (137) (30) (197)

Accumulated depreciated – disposals  – 40  – 40

At 30 June 2009, net of accumulated depreciation 103 174 169 446

at 1 July 2008

Cost or fair value 250 1,636 209 2,095

Accumulated depreciation (125) (1,394) (10) (1,529)

Net carrying amount 125 242 199 566

at 30 June 2009

Cost or fair value 258 1,626 199 2,083

Accumulated depreciation (155) (1,453) (30) (1,637)

Net carrying amount 103 173 169 446
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13. gooDWill

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

nextset

Cost 1,548 1,548

accumulated impaired losses (1,548) (1,343)

Net carrying value 	 – 205

tMs

Cost 1,085 1,085

Accumulated impaired losses (48) (48)

Net carrying value 1,037 1,037

halcyon

Cost 2,048 2,048

Accumulated impaired losses 	 –  –

Net carrying value 2,048 2,048

total intangibles 3,085 3,290

consoliDateD

neXtset
$’000

tMs
$’000

halcYon
$’000

total
$’000

at 1 July 2008

Opening balance 205 1,037 2,048 3,290

Impairment loss  –  –  –  –

closing value at 30 June 2009 205 1,037 2,048 3,290

at 1 July 2009

Opening balance 205 1,037 2,048 3,290

Impairment loss (205) 	 – 	 – (205)

closing value at 30 June 2010 	 – 1,037 2,048 3,085
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14. iMpairMent testing oF gooDWill anD 
intangiBles With inDeFinite liVes

Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated 
to three individual cash generating units for impairment testing as 
follows:

• halcyon cash generating unit

• TMS cash generating unit

• NextSet cash generating unit

(a) halcYon cash generating unit

The recoverable amount of the halcyon cash generating unit has 
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a five year period.

The recoverable amount is assessed using current discount rates. The 
pre–tax discount rate for this year was set at 12% based on global 
economic conditions and the company’s maturity of operations (2009: 
12%). Sensitivity analysis carried out at historic rates also indicated that 
no impairment of goodwill had occurred. 

No cash flows are assumed beyond the five year period reflecting the 
uncertain nature of the technology sector. 

(B) tMs cash generating unit

The recoverable amount of the TMS cash generating unit has 
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a five year period.

The recoverable amount is assessed using current discount rates. The 
pre–tax discount rate for this year was set at 12% based on global 
economic conditions and the company’s maturity of operations (2009: 
12%). Sensitivity analysis carried out at historic rates also indicated that 
no impairment of goodwill had occurred. 

No cash flows are assumed beyond the five year period reflecting the 
uncertain nature of the technology sector.

The majority of the TMS revenue and costs are incurred in North 
America. 

(c) neXtset cash generating unit

The recoverable amount of the NextSet cash generating unit has 
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a five year period.

The recoverable amount is assessed using current discount rates. The 
pre–tax discount rate for this year was set at 12% based on global 
economic conditions and the company’s maturity of operations (2009: 
12%). Sensitivity analysis carried out at historic rates also indicated that 
no impairment of goodwill had occurred. 

No cash flows are assumed beyond the five year period reflecting the 
uncertain nature of the technology sector. 

(D) MpairMent losses recogniseD

nextset

As a result of discontinuing the Nextset operations in Chennai, India, 
the Directors have determined it appropriate that the carrying value of 
goodwill associated with the Indian operations should be valued at nil 
($0) based on the value in use calculations.

Please refer to Note 13 for the carrying value of goodwill for the 
halcyon, TMS and NextSet cash generating units.

keY assuMptions useD in Value in use calculations 
For the halcYon, tMs anD neXtset cash generating 
units For 30 June 2010 anD 30 June 2009

The following describes each key assumption on which management 
has based its cash flow projections when determining the value in use 
of the halcyon, TMS and NextSet cash generating units. 

Budgeted gross margins 

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross 
margins is the average gross margins achieved in the year immediately 
before the budgeted year, increased for expected efficiency 
improvements.  Thus, values assigned to gross margins reflect past 
experience.

cost, revenue and salary growth rates 

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the cost, revenue 
and salary growth rates is 2% which is the current inflation rate. Values 
assigned to this key assumption are consistent with external sources of 
information.

auD/usD Foreign exchange rate 

The Australian:United States (AUD/USD) foreign exchange rate is 
0.88 which is the AUD/USD assumption used in the Company’s FY11 
revenue budget assumptions.

sensitivity analysis of key assumptions

Management has noted that sensitivity analysis performed through 
increasing the discount rate used from 12% to 20% has not resulted 
in any potential write–down in the value of the goodwill valuations as at 
30 June 2010.
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15. share–BaseD paYMent plans

eMploYee share option anD acQuisition plan

The Company has in place an Employee Share Option Plan (“ESOP”) and an Employee Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”).  The Board obtained 
shareholder approval at the 2003 AGM to issue up to 15% of its issued share capital in securities under the ESOP and ESAP.

Currently the ESOP and ESAP are suspended, as a result of the changes announced in the May 2009 Federal Government Budget.

esop

Under the ESOP, the Board is able to grant options to eligible employees, which include all full–time employees of the Company and its Directors (grants 
to Directors however require shareholder approval).  The terms and conditions of the grant are to be determined by the Board, and at the time of this 
report, options are on issue with different conditions as follows:

series 2

Series 2 options were issued in November 2003 with shareholder approval during the AGM.  They are exercisable at $0.25 per option, and expired in 
November 2009.

Directors’ options

Directors’ options were issued on 18 November 2004 following shareholder approval. The options are five year call options exercisable at $0.32. Options 
vest over a three year period in 36 consecutive monthly installments; however no options can be exercised in the 12 months after the date of grant. The 
holder must be a Director when options are exercised. The last remaining Directors’ options expired in November 2009.

hoodless options

2,116,705 options were issued on 12 December 2006 to hoodless (UK) following successful listing on AIM (UK Stock Exchange). The options are five 
year call options exercisable at $0.12.  The options have no vesting date and can be exercised from 12 December 2006.

it&e esop options

IT&e ESOP options were issued to new employees at various dates during the year to 30 June 2008. The options are five year call options with an 
exercise price range from $0.12 to $0.34. Options vest over a three year period in 36 consecutive monthly instalments; however no options can be 
exercised in the 12 months after the date of grant.  The holder must be an employee or Director when options are exercised.

The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share–based payments is disclosed in the income statement.

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options issued during the 
year:

2010 no.
(’000)

2010 
Waep

2009 no. 
(’000)

2009 
Waep

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 15(a) 8,214 $0.20 15,981 $0.27

Granted during the year 15(b) 	 – 	 –  –  –

Lapsed/Forfeited during the year 15(c) 	 – 	 – (3,377)  –

Exercised during the year 15(c) 	 – 	 –  –  –

Expired during the year 15(c) (3,997) $0.26 (4,390) $0.32

Outstanding at the end of the year 15(d) 4,217 $0.20 8,214 $0.20

Exercisable at end of year 4,135 $0.20 5,804 $0.20
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15. share–BaseD paYMent plans continued

(a) options outstanDing at the Beginning oF the Year

no. anD series grant Date Vesting Date * eXpirY Date * Waep

597,335 Series 2 30.11.03 30.11.06 30.11.09 $0.25

1,400,000 Directors’ 18.11.04 18.11.04–18.11.07 18.11.09 $0.32

2,100,000  IT&e ESOP 31.08.04 – 16.11.04 31.08.05–31.08.07 31.08.09 – 16.11.09 $0.26

2,000,000 IT&e ESOP (halcyon) 17.11.06 17.11.09 17.11.11 $0.20

2,116,705 hoodless 12.12.06 12.12.06 12.12.11 $.012

8,214,040

(B) options granteD During the Year

no. anD series grant Date Vesting Date * eXpirY Date * Waep

nil

(c) options lapseD, ForFeiteD, eXerciseD or eXpireD During the Year

nuMBer oF options option series grant Date eXercise Date eXpirY Date Waep

597,335 Series 2 30.11.03 30.11.06 30.11.09 $0.25

1,400,000 Directors’ 18.11.04 18.11.04 – 18.11.07 18.11.09 $0.32

2,000,000 IT&e ESOP (halcyon) 17.11.06 17.11.09 17.11.11 $0.20

3,997,335

No options were exercised by employees during the year ended 30 June 2010.

A total of 597,335 NextSet options and 1,400,000 Directors’ series options expired during the year (2009: 4.390,333 options expired). 2,000,000 
halcyon options were forfeited during the year (2009: 3,376,418 options lapsed/forfeited).

(D) options outstanDing at the enD oF the Year

no. anD series grant Date Vesting Date * eXpirY Date * Waep

2,100,000 IT&e ESOP 31.08.04–16.11.04 31.08.05–31.08.07 31.08.09–16.11.09 $0.22

2,116,705 hoodless 12.12.06 12.12.06 12.12.11 $0.12

4,216,705

* Dates provided are the latest date by which options can vest or expire.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2010 is between 1 and 2 years (2009: 1 and 2 years).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.12 – $0.22.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $nil (2009: $nil).

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010
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The following table lists the inputs to the Black–Scholes and Monte Carlo option pricing models used for the year ended 30 June 2008. No options were 
issued for 2010.

2008

Expected volatility (%) 100%

Risk–free interest rate (%) 5.03% – 5.91%

Expected life of option (years) 3 – 4.5

Option exercise price ($) 0.20 – 0.34

Weighted average share price at grant date ($) 0.27

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility 
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features 
of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

esop

The Company has established an Employee Share Option Plan (“ESOP”) for which shareholder approval was provided on 30 November 2003. The 
ESOP enables the company to issue up to 15% of its issued share capital in securities under the ESOP and ESAP.

Under the ESOP rules, the Company may offer Directors and employees remuneration in the form of shares as part of incentive arrangements. The 
determination of eligible employees and the terms and conditions of the offer to such employees, will be determined by the Directors from time to time 
having regard to the needs of the Company.

No new ESOP options were issued to any employee during the year to 30 June 2010. 

The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share–based payments is disclosed in the income statement.

esap

The Company has established an ESAP for which shareholder approval was given on 18 July 2000 and renewed on 30 November 2003. The ESAP 
enables all employees of the Company to invest in the equity of the Company as part of their remuneration.  Australian employees will be able to take 
advantage of certain tax concessions by participating in the ESAP. The terms of the ESAP rules have been drafted to satisfy the requirements of the tax 
deferral concessions.

Under the ESAP rules, Directors may offer participant employees remuneration in the form of shares as part of the employee’s incentive arrangements. 
The determination of eligible employees and the terms and conditions of the offer to such employees will be determined by the Directors from time to 
time, having regard to the needs of the Company.

The terms of the ESAP allow the Company to issue matching share components at nil consideration to the shares acquired by the employees. During 
the year, the Company issued no matching shares at nil consideration (2009: nil). The fair value of shares issued is $nil (2009: $nil).

Currently, the ESAP is suspended, as a result of the changes announced in the May 2009 Federal Government Budget.
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16. traDe anD other paYaBles (current)

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Trade payables (i) 662 1,168

Employee related benefits payable (ii) 139 91

Other taxes payable 186 43

987 1,302

(i) Trade payables are non–interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 day terms.

(ii) Employee related benefits payable comprise of superannuation payable.

(a) Fair Value

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

(B) interest rate, Foreign eXchange anD liQuiDitY risk

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 21.

17. current taX liaBilities

opening 
Balance 

$’000

recognition 
 oF DeFerreD 

taX asset
$’000

changeD 
to incoMe 

$’000

closing 
Balance 

$’000

Provisions  –  – (271) (271)

Legal Fees  –  – (72) (72)

Future income tax benefits attributable to tax losses  – (732)  – (732)

 – (732) (343) (1,075)

18. eMploYee BeneFits

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

current

Annual leave 391 632

Long service leave 106 	 –

497 632

non–current

Long service leave 111 311

111 311

nature anD tiMing oF proVisions

annual and long service leave

Refer to Note 2(x) for the relevant accounting policy and a discussion of the significant estimations and assumptions applied in the measurement of this 
provision.
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19. non–current liaBilities

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

non–current

Lease incentive (i) 415 420

415 420

(i) On 1 March 2008, the Parent Entity moved to new premises at 115 Pitt Street Sydney. As part of the move, the landlord provided a rent reduction incentive being equal 
to a 50% reduction in monthly rent payable for the first 18 months of occupation ($254,827). The rental incentive income and corresponding expense will be amortised 
on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Rent reduction incentive amortised for 2010 is $29,885 (2009: $29,885).

 In addition, the landlord provided lease incentive payments of $209,195 to move into the premises, which contributed to the overall fit–out costs of the new premises. 
The lease incentive assets are depreciated on a monthly basis. Lease incentive payments amortised for 2010 is $29,885 (2009: $29,885).

(a) Fair Value

Due to their nature, the carrying amount of the Group’s convertible loan approximates their fair value.

(B) interest rate, Foreign eXchange anD liQuiDitY risk

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 21.

(c) assets pleDgeD as securitY

There are no assets pledged as security for the non–current interest bearing liabilities.

(D) set–oFF assets anD liaBilities

There are no assets pledged as security for the non–current interest bearing liabilities.

(e) DeFaults anD Breaches

During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or breaches on any of the loans.

(F) Bank Facilities

On 8 June 2010, the following bank facilities were settled with St. George Bank:

• Commercial Overdraft Facility

Limit = $400,000

• Currency Exposure Management Facility

Limit = $400,000 (Effective Fx deal coverage of approximately $3.5M – $4.0M)

• Payroll Tape Negotiation Authority Facility

Limit = $500,000

• Bank Guarantee Line

Limit = $400,000

Total of all limits = $1,700,000

A first registered company charge (Mortgage Debenture) was taken over the assets of Razor Risk Technologies Limited by St. George Bank. The 
previous Mortgage Debenture held by the ANZ Bank was discharged on 23 July 2010. The fixed and floating charge is over all present and future assets, 
undertakings (including goodwill) and unpaid / uncalled capital of the company.

The following specific conditions apply to the St. George facilities:

1. interest cover ratio covenant

Interest cover is to be maintained above 2.0 times and is calculated as EBIT divided by finance costs.

2. Drawn exposure covenant

The commercial overdraft drawn exposure is not to exceed 60% of approved debtors < 60 days plus available cash balances. Approved debtors are to 
be a minimum S&P rating of BBB or approved in advance by St. George Bank.
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19. non–current liaBilities continued

The bank guarantee line is currently securing tenancy obligations under the lease of the premises comprising Level 9, 115 Pitt Street, Sydney, and is 
utilised up to a value of $275,715.

During the period and up to the date of this report, the commercial overdraft facility has not been utilised. 

There are no open Foreign Exchange deals as at 30 June 2010.

20. issueD capital anD reserVes

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

ordinary shares

Issued and fully paid 52,506 52,451

The Company has authorised share capital amounting to 283,953,565 ordinary shares of no par value.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. On winding up, shareholders have a right to a distribution of surplus 
assets of the Company following the winding up (if any) on a pro rate basis.

2010 2009

nuMBer
(‘000) $’000

nuMBer
(‘000) $’000

Movement in ordinary shares on issue

Beginning of the financial year 283,953 52,451 271,307 52,212

Issued during the year

– employee share scheme (i) 	 – 55 1,092 23

– employee bonus 	 – 	 – 6,963 65

– conversion of management loan (ii) 	 – 	 – 3,770 151

– purchase of the halcyon business (iii) 	 – 	 – 821  –

End of the financial year 283,953 52,506 283,953 52,451

(i) Purchased by employees under the ESAP (refer to Note 15).

(ii) Loans from key management personnel have been converted to ordinary shares (exception of J Maranis and J Mantzios, whose loans were converted to cash on 
resignation from the Company).

(iii) halcyon acquisition: On 30 January 2009, 821,250 shares were issued in accordance with the second earn–out period. 

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010
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share options

The Company has an ESOP share based payment option schemes under which options to subscribe for the Company’s shares have been granted to 
certain Executives and other employees (refer Note 15).

reserVes

consoliDateD

Foreign currencY 
translation reserVe

eMploYee eQuitY 
BeneFits reserVe

total

$’000 $’000 $’000

consolidated

At 30 June 2008 150 3,168 3,318

Currency translation differences (194)  – (194)

Share–based payments  – 98 98

At 30 June 2009 (44) 3,266 3,222

At 1 July 2009 (44) 3,266 3,222

Currency translation differences (93) 	 – (93)

Share–based payments 	 – 51 51

At 30 June 2010 (137) 3,317 3,180

nature anD purpose oF reserVes

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations with a functional currency other than AUD.

share–based payments expense reserve

The reserve is used to record the value of share options provided to employees and Directors as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 15 for further 
details of this plan.

capital ManageMent

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to create returns to shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.

Management adjusts the capital structure in line with the Company’s needs and considering the market environment. As the market is constantly 
changing, management may issue new shares to provide funding.

During 2010, management paid dividends of $0 (2009: $0). Management may issue further capital in the next year if deemed appropriate.
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20. issueD capital anD reserVes continued

Management monitor capital through the working capital ratio. The working capital ratios based on con–tinuing operations at 30 June 2010 and 2009 
were as follows:

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,374 3,139

Trade and other receivables 821 1,459

Prepayments 213 134

Accrued revenue 22 95

total current assets 4,430 4,827

less current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 987 1,302

Employee benefits 497 632

Unearned revenue 1,331 1,966

total current liabilities 2,815 3,900

Working capital 1,615 927

During the period the Group secured new bank facilities including a $400,000 overdraft provision, and is required to maintain the following external 
covenants:

1. Interest cover ratio covenant of above 2.0.

2. Drawn exposure covenant, where the commercial overdraft exposure is not to exceed 60% of approved debtors < 60 days plus available cash 
balances.  

Refer to Note 19 for further details.
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21. Financial risk ManageMent oBJectiVes anD policies

Financial risk ManageMent oBJectiVes

The principal objective of Razor Risk Technologies Limited’s (the Group) Financial Risk Management (FRM) strategy is to establish a robust structure for 
the determination of risk appetite and the measuring, monitoring, reporting and escalation of financial risks. The Group seeks to manage financial risks to 
maximise the return on shareholder capital, while ensuring:

• the Group remains solvent; and

• there is sufficient cash flow available to execute the operational strategy set by the Group Board of Directors (the Board).

The Group’s FRM is carried out in accordance with policies set by the Board. These policies are set out in the Group’s FRM Policy and they provide 
a clear structure for managing financial risks including delegations, escalations and reporting. The FRM Policy also outlines the Group’s financial risk 
management objectives and identifies organisational responsibilities for the implementation of the FRM Policy. The FRM Policy provides an overview of 
each of the key financial risks including the nature of the risk, objectives in seeking to manage the risk, the key policy variables for the management of 
the risk and the regional responsibility for managing and reporting the risk.

Financial risk Management structure

The Board has ultimate responsibility for risk management and governance, including ensuring an appropriate risk framework is in place and is operating 
effectively. There are, however, other bodies and individuals within the Group that manage and monitor financial risks.

the Board

The Board is responsible for the approval of the FRM Policy, shareholder capital investment strategy, capital and financing plans, approval of transactions 
outside of FRM policy and setting the financial risk appetite.

the audit and risk Management committee

The Group’s Audit and Risk Management Committee is responsible for ensuring the existence of effective financial risk management policies and 
procedures, and oversight of the execution of the FRM Policy. 

controlled entity boards

The Directors and Boards of various Group operating controlled entities are required to comply with the Board approved Risk Management Policy.

risks anD Mitigation

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short–term deposits, and trade and other payables.  The Group’s activities expose it to a 
variety of financial risks:

• market risk, including interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk;

• liquidity and re–financing risk; and

• credit risk.

The major risks associated with financial instruments and the Group’s policies for managing these risks are set out as follows.
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21. Financial risk ManageMent oBJectiVes anD policies continued

(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from movements in market variables including observable variables such as interest rates, exchange rates and 
indirectly observable variables such as volatilities and correlations. 

(i) interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk to the Group’s earnings and capital arising from movements in interest rates, including changes in the absolute levels of 
interest rates, the shape of the yield curve, the margin between different yield curves and the volatility of interest rates. 

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk that are not designated 
in cash flow hedges:

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,374 3,139

Financial liabilities

Nil 	 –  –

net exposure 3,374 3,139

The Group regularly analyses its interest rate exposure and it is the Group’s policy to wherever possible, fund operations from non–interest bearing 
instruments.  At balance date, as the Group had no debt, management has determined that the risk exposure to the Group of a change in Australian 
variable interest rates is minimal. 

(ii) price risk

The Group does not deal in any commodity contracts or have any investments in equity securities.  Management has determined that the Group’s 
exposure to commodity and equity securities price risk is minimal.

(iii) currency risk

As a result of operations in foreign countries, the Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by an 
operating unit in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. 

The Group does not hedge the capital invested in overseas operations, thereby accepting the foreign currency translation risk on invested capital.

To minimise transactional risk, the Group naturally reduces currency exposure by paying all wages and foreign unit expenses from foreign currency 
collections. In addition, the Group has recently secured new banking facilities with St. George Bank, which includes a $400,000 Currency Exposure 
Management Facility (effective Fx deal coverage of approximately $3.5M – $4.0M). This facility will help minimise the volatility associated with the Group’s 
foreign exchange debtors, aimed at delivering cash flows in AUD with reasonable certainty.

Approximately 78% of the Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating entity making the sale (United 
States USD, Great Britain GBP and Indian INR), with US$ denominated sales representing 53%. 67% of costs are denominated in the unit’s functional 
currency.
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At 30 June 2010, the Group had the following net exposure to $US and £GBP foreign currency that is not designated in cash flow hedges:

consoliDateD

net eXposure to $us
2010

$’000
2009
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 496 548

Trade & other receivables 496 276

992 824

Financial liabilities

trade & other payables 38 152

net exposure 954 672

consoliDateD

net eXposure to £gBp
2010

$’000
2009
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 467 61

Trade & other receivables 156  –

623 61

Financial liabilities

trade & other payables 111 142

net exposure 512 (81)

Due to the closure of the Indian operations during the period, management has determined that the overall Group net exposure to INR (Indian Rupee) 
currency risk is minimal and no sensitivity analysis is necessary for this currency. Sensitivity analysis has been carried out on the Group’s exposure to 
$US and £GBP.  

The following tables illustrate sensitivities to the Group’s exposure to $A/$US and $A/£GBP foreign exchange rates. The tables indicate the impact 
on how profit and equity values reported at balance date would have been affected by changes in the $A/$US and $A/£GBP foreign exchange rates 
that management considers to be reasonably possible. These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables. 

consoliDateD

$a / $us
proFit 

$’000
eQuitY 

$’000

Year ended 30 June 2010

+/– 5% in $A / $US +/–	228 +/–	228

Year ended 30 June 2009

+/– 5% in $a / $us +/– 319 +/– 319
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21. Financial risk ManageMent oBJectiVes anD policies continued

consoliDateD

$a / £gBp
proFit 

$’000
eQuitY 

$’000

Year ended 30 June 2010

+/– 5% in $A / £GBP +/–	49 +/–	49

Year ended 30 June 2009

+/– 5% in $a / £gBp +/–	21 +/– 21

(B) liQuiDitY risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its debt obligations, or other cash outflows, as they fall due, because of lack of liquid 
assets or access to adequate funding on acceptable terms. 

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s and Parent entity’s financial liabilities are:

consoliDateD

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Less than 30 days 409 447

31–60 days 133 15

61–90 days 440 753

Less than 1 yr 5 87

Greater than 1 yr 	 – 	 –

987 1,302

To ensure that the Group has sufficient funds available on a timely basis, in the form of cash, liquid assets, and borrowing capacity to meet its liquidity 
requirements, the Group maintains a defined surplus of cash plus projected cash inflows over projected outflows in a going–concern scenario, while 
meeting regulatory requirements and internal management guidelines.

In addition, the Group has recently established a $400,000 Commercial Overdraft Facility with St. George Bank to further reduce the Group’s exposure 
to any liquidity risk.
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notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

MaturitY analYsis oF Financial assets anD liaBilitY BaseD on ManageMent’s eXpectations

The following table summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at year end, based on contractual undiscounted 
repayment of obligations. These assets and liabilities are considered in the Group’s overall liquidity risk.

To monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future risks, the Group has established comprehensive risk 
reporting covering its worldwide business units that reflects expectations of management of expected settlement of financial assets and liabilities.

Year enDeD 30 June 2010

less than
30 DaYs

31–60
DaYs 

61–90
DaYs

less
than 1 Yr

greater
than 1 Yr

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

consolidated

Financial assets

Cash & cash equivalents 3,374 	 – 	 – 	 – 	 – 3,374

Trade & other receivables 556 	 – 4 90 171 821

3,930 	 – 4 90 171 4,195

Financial liabilities

Trade & other payables 409 133 440 5 	 – 987

409 133 440 5 	 – 987

net maturity 3,521 (133) (436) 85 171 3,208

Year enDeD 30 June 2009

less than
30 DaYs

31–60
DaYs 

61–90
DaYs

less
than 1 Yr

greater
than 1 Yr

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

consolidated

Financial assets

Cash & cash equivalents 3,139  –  –  –  – 3,139

Trade & other receivables 1,132  – 7 320  – 1,459

4,271  – 7 320  – 4,598

Financial liabilities

Trade & other payables 447 15 753 87  – 1,302

447 15 753 87  – 1,302

net maturity 3,824 (15) (746) 233  – 3,296

(c) Fair Value 

The methods for estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

(D) creDit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises from a client failing to meet their contractual commitments in full and on time.

The Group manages credit risk by ensuring:–

• trading only with recognised, creditworthy third parties (major customers are large listed corporations);

• that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures;

• that receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Management has determined that the Group’s exposure to credit risk at 30 June 2010 is minimal.

Refer Note 9, Trade and Other Receivables (Current) for further discussion on Credit Risk. 
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For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

22. coMMitMents anD contingencies

operating lease coMMitMents – group as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases for office space occupied in Sydney, New York and London.

consoliDateD

operating lease coMMitMents – group as lessee
2010

$’000
2009 

$’000

Future minimum rentals payable under non–cancellable operating leases as at 30 June 
are as follows:

Within one year 580 752

After one year but not more than five years 1,774 2,181

After more than five years 	 – 234

Total minimum lease payments 2,354 3,167

suMMarY oF keY lease arrangeMents

terM current terM 
eXpires

option 
to reneWal

cpi 
increase

UK office lease 1 year 11 April 2011 Yes – 3 years No

Sydney office lease 7 years 28 February 2015 Yes – 7 years Annual

US office lease 7 years 28 February 2014 No Annual

contingencies 

As at 30 June 2010, the Group had term deposits totalling $339,670 (2009: $427,444) held as bank guarantees comprised of security deposits for rental 
premises.

In addition, Note 23 details the Deed of Cross Guarantee entered into in the 2006 financial year. The extent to which an outflow of funds will be required 
is dependent on the future operations of the entities that are party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee. No liability is expected to arise. The Board has 
assessed the probability of any liabilities arising from the deed to be low at balance date, and accordingly, no amounts were recognised. The Deed of 
Cross Guarantee will continue to operate indefinitely.
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notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

23. relateD partY Disclosure

suBsiDiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Razor Risk Technologies Limited and the subsidiaries listed in the following 
table:

naMe
countrY oF 

incorporation

% eQuitY interest inVestMents $’000

2010 2009 2010 2009

Razor Risk Technologies Services Pty Limited ^ Australia 100 100 1,850 1,850

IT&e Software India Private Limited India 100 100 247 247

Razor Risk Technologies Inc USA 100 100 36 45

Razor Risk Technologies Limited UK 100 100 333 307

2,466 2,449

^Entities subject to class order

Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Razor Risk Technologies Services Pty Limited from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements 
for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports.

As a condition of the Class Order, Razor Risk Technologies Limited and Razor Risk Technologies Services Pty Limited (the “Closed Group”) entered into 
a Deed of Cross Guarantee on 22 June 2006. The effect of the deed is that Razor Risk Technologies Limited has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the 
event of winding up of the controlled entity or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to 
the guarantee. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee in the event that Razor Risk Technologies Limited is wound up or if it does not 
meet its obligation under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee. The Board has assessed the probability of any 
liabilities arising from the deed to be low at balance date, and accordingly, no amounts were recognised.

ultiMate parent

Razor Risk Technologies Limited is the ultimate Australian parent entity and ultimate parent of the Group incorporated in Australia.

The consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position of the entities that are members of the “Closed Group” is as 
follows:

closeD group

2010
$’000

2009 
$’000

consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Net profit for the period 1,618 1,363

(Accumulated losses) at the beginning of the period (49,838) (51,201)

(Accumulated losses) at the end of the period (48,220) (49,838)
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notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

23. relateD partY Disclosure continued

closeD group

2010
$’000

2009 
$’000

consolidated Balance sheet

assets

current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,744 2,503

Trade and other receivables 727 1,184

Prepayments 149 67

Accrued revenue 22 95

total current assets 3,642 3,849

non–current assets

Financial Assets 388 301

Property, plant and equipment 381 352

Deferred tax asset 1,075 	 –

Goodwill 2,047 2,252

Investments in controlled entities 2,467 2,451

Due to related parties within wholly owned group 1,239 1,357

total non–current assets 7,597 6,713

total assets 11,239 10,562

liaBilities

current liabilities

Trade and other payables 694 876

Short–term provisions 572 600

Unearned revenue 1,220 1,846

total current liabilities 2,486 3,322

non–current liabilities

Lease liability 415 420

Long–term provisions 111 310

total non–current liabilities 526 730

total liaBilities 3,012 4,052

net assets 8,277 6,510

eQuitY

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued capital 52,506 52,451

(Accumulated losses) (48,220) (49,838)

Reserves 3,941 3,897

total eQuitY 8,227 6,510



54 razor risk technologies  annual report 2010   razor risk technologies annual report 2010 55

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010

keY ManageMent personnel

Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid, are included in Note 26.

transactions With relateD parties

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year.

relateD partY
purchases FroM 
relateD parties

other transactions With 
relateD parties

parent

subsidiaries:

Transfer pricing transactions 2010 4,630,554

2009 5,765,402

Share–based transactions 2010 81,661

2009 35,984

Related party amounts result from transactions in relation to the parent company meeting the working capital requirements of subsidiaries. In addition, 
Razor Risk Technologies Limited (UK), Razor Risk Technologies Inc. and Razor Risk Technologies Ltd have entered into Services Agreements for the 
provision of services in relation to i) sales and pre–sales activity, ii) software support, iii) implementation activities, and iv) customer support, training and 
project management. Costs for such services are reimbursed with a mark up of 7%. Settlement is within 90 days but it may vary.  

The balance payable by Razor Risk Technologies Limited to its subsidiaries at 30 June 2010 is $4,100,137 (2009: $4,100,614).

A full review of the Group’s related party service agreements will take place early in the new financial year.

terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales to and purchases from related parties are made in arm’s length transactions both at normal market prices and on normal commercial terms. 
Outstanding balances at year–end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. 

24. eVents aFter the Balance sheet Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
consolidated group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated group in future financial years.

25. auDitors’ reMuneration

The auditor of Razor Risk Technologies Limited is Grant Thornton Audit Pty Limited.

consoliDateD

2010
$

2009 
$

amounts received or due and receivable by grant thornton australia for:

• an audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 
consolidated group

89,529 99,500

• non–audit services in relation to the entity and any other entity in the consolidated group

 - tax compliance 69,319  –

 - other assurance related services 23,500  –

182,348 99,500

amounts received or due and receivable by non grant thornton audit firms for:

• an audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 
consolidated group (Ernst & Young)

	 – 6,695

• an audit or review of the financial report of subsidiaries 15,816 15,444

15,816 22,139
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26. Director anD eXecutiVe Disclosures

(a) coMpensation oF keY ManageMent personnel

(i) compensation of key Management personnel

For the years ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009 – refer to the tables on pages 11 to 12 in the Directors’ Report. The Company has applied the 
option under “Corporations Amendments Regulation 2006” to transfer key management personnel remuneration disclosures required by AASB 124 
“Related Party Disclosures” paragraphs Aus 25/4 to Aus 25.7.2 to the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report.

(ii) compensation by category: key Management personnel

consoliDateD

2010
$

2009 
$

Short–term – salary and fees 1,367,600 1,330,089

• Short–term – bonus 85,000 27,100

• Post employment 96,780 105,591

 - Share–based payments – options 1,316 6,086

 - Share–based payments – shares 80,345 19,212

Long–term – LSL 	 – 29,483

1,631,041 1,517,561

(B) option holDings oF keY ManageMent personnel (consoliDateD)

Balance at 
Beginning 

oF perioD 1 
JulY 2009

net change 
other #

Balance at 
enD oF perioD 

30 June 2010

VesteD at 30 June 2010

30 June 2010 total eXercisaBle

Directors

E Bugg 500,000 	 – 500,000 500,000 500,000

S Yencken # 1,400,000 (1,400,000) 	 – 	 – 	 –

total 1,900,000 (1,400,000) 500,000 500,000 500,000

# S Yencken’s options lapsed during the year.

During the year no options issued to Directors and senior Executives were exercised and no new options were issued. 

30 June 2009

Balance at 
Beginning oF 

perioD 
1 JulY 2008

net change 
other 

#

Balance at enD 
oF perioD 

30 June 2009

VesteD at 30 June 2009

total eXercisaBle
not 

eXercisaBle

Directors

E Bugg 500,000  – 500,000 500,000 430,000 70,000

S Yencken 1,400,000  – 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000  –

J Maranis * 2,000,000 (2,000,000)  –  –  –  –

executives

N Slack–Smith # 1,400,000 (1,400,000)  –  –  –  –

total 5,300,000 (3,400,000) 1,900,000 1,900,000 1,830,000 70,000

* Forfeiture due to resignation on 11 September 2008.

# Forfeiture due to expiry of options.

During the year no options issued to Directors and senior Executives were exercised and no new options were issued.

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010
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(c) shareholDings oF keY ManageMent personnel (consoliDateD)

shares held in razor risk technologies limited (number)

30 June 2010

Balance
1 JulY 2009
 orDinarY

granteD as
 reMuneration

 orDinarY

net change
other

orDinarY

Balance
30 June 2010

orDinarY

Directors

E Bugg 811,608 	 – 104,609 916,217

S Yencken 35,925,668 	 – 	 – 35,925,668

R Pickering 4,855,145 	 – 	 – 4,855,145

J Yuile 14,188,601 	 – 	 – 14,188,601

A Wood 10,807,883 	 – 	 – 10,807,883

executives ^^

N Slack–Smith* 4,015,663 	 – (4,015,663) 	 –

F Walker 508,400 625,000 	 – 1,133,400

T Arens 8,400 625,000 	 – 633,400

C Brooke 517,804 	 – 	 – 517,804

O Carton 139,945 	 – 	 – 139,945

total 71,779,117 1,250,000 (3,911,054) 69,118,063

^^ For the purposes of this report, the term ‘Executive’ encompasses the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President – Product Management, and 
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, and the Company Secretary.

* Resigned 25 September 2009. At that time, Mr Slack–Smith continued to hold his ordinary shares.

All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered into under 
terms and conditions no more favourable than those the Group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

30 June 2009

Balance
1 JulY 2008
orDinarY

granteD as
reMuneration

orDinarY

net change
other

orDinarY

Balance
30 June 2010

orDinarY

Directors

E Bugg 275,000 	 – 536,608 811,608

S Yencken 27,706,313 	 – 8,219,355 35,925,668

R Pickering 	 – 	 – 4,855,145 4,855,145

J Yuile 152,000 	 – 14,036,601 14,188,601

A Wood ^ 	 – 1,836,971 8,970,912 10,807,883

J Maranis * 3,607,973 	 – (3,607,973) 	 –

executives ^^

N Slack–Smith 2,124,447 1,608,400 282,816 4,015,663

F Walker 	 – 	 – 508,400 508,400

C Brooke 	 – 132,210 385,594 517,804

O Carton 139,945 	 – 	 – 139,945

total 34,005,678 3,577,581 34,187,458 71,770,717

^ Appointed 1 February 2009.

* Resigned 11 September 2008.  At that time Mr Maranis continued to hold his ordinary shares.

^^ For the purposes of this report, the term ‘Executive’ encompasses the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer of the Parent and the Group, and the Company Secretary.

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010
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27. parent entitY Disclosures

parent entitY

2010
$

2009 
$

parent entity

assets

Current assets 5,064 5,614

Non–current assets 6,258 5,324

total assets 11,322 10,938

Liabilities

Current liabilities 7,385 8,405

Non–current liabilities 511 604

total liabilities 7,896 9,009

net assets 3,426 1,929

equity

Issued capital 52,507 52,451

Retained earnings (52,664) (54,061)

reserves

Employee equity benefits reserve 3,583 3,539

total eQuitY anD reserVes 3,426 1,929

Financial performance

Profit for the year 1,397 2,317

Other comprehensive income 	 – 	 –

total comprehensive income 1,397 2,317

Contingent	liabilities – Term deposits held as guarantees comprised of security deposits for 
rental premises

299 300

Contractual	commitments	– Contractual capital commitments for the acquisition of property, 
plant or equipment

	 – 	 –

Guarantees	in	relation	to	the	debts	of	subsidiaries (i) 	 – 	 –

(i)  Refer to Note 25 regarding detailed cross guarantee disclosures between Razor Risk Technologies Limited (Parent Entity) and other related parties within the Razor 
Group.

notes to the Financial stateMents continued

For the Year enDeD 30 June 2010
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Razor Risk Technologies Limited, I state that: 

(1) In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the financial statements, notes and the additional disclosures included in the Directors’ Report designated as audited, of the consolidated 
entity are in aeccordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of their performance for the year ended on 
that date; 

(ii)  complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(iii) complied with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

(2) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2010.

(3) In the opinion of the Directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed Group 
identified in Note 23 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by virtue of the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee.

On behalf of the Board

ELLIS BUGG

Chairman

Sydney, 19 August 2010
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asX aDDitional inForMation

suBstantial shareholDers as at 16 august 2010

The following information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this report is extracted from the Company’s 
Share Register.

naMe
nuMBer oF

orDinarY shares
nuMBer oF orDinarY

share options
% oF

issueD capital

GBST hOLDINGS LIMITED 43,825,473 – 15.43

MR SIMON ANThONY YENCKEN* 35,925,688 – 12.70

MR JOhN MIChAEL WISBEY 14,554,334 – 5.13

MS JANE YUILE^ 14,188,601 – 5.00

* Mr Yencken holds a relevant interest in shares held in his own name and by Parwood Pty Ltd

^ Ms Yuile holds a relevant interest in shares held in her own name and by Bond Street Custodians Limited

DistriBution oF shareholDings as at 31 JulY 2010

size oF holDing
nuMBer oF 

orDinarY shareholDers
nuMBer oF 

orDinarY shares

1 – 1,000 18 12,228

1,001 – 5,000 133 414,569

5,001 – 10,000 282 2,373,189

10,001 – 100,000 695 23,693,453

100,001 and over 247 257,460,126

total 1,375 283,953,565

Number of ordinary shareholders with less than a marketable 
parcel of shares are: 720 7,036,832

Voting rights

All ordinary shares issued by Razor Risk Technologies Limited carry one vote per share without restriction. 
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asX aDDitional inForMation continued

tWentY largest shareholDers as at 16 august 2010

naMe
nuMBer oF 

orDinarY shares %

1 GBST hOLDINGS LTD 43,825,473 15.43

2 MR SIMON ANThONY YENCKEN 26,723,846 9.41

3 MR JOhN MIChAEL WISBEY 14,554,334 5.13

4 PARWOOD PTY LIMITED 
<S A YENCKEN FAMILY A/C>

9,201,822 3.24

5 RAZOR RISK TEChNOLOGIES ESP PTY LTD 
<CONTROL A/C>

8,640,942 3.04

6 BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED 
<DSK – V07395 A/C>

8,521,941 3.00

7 MR ANDREW NIChOLAS SCOTT WOOD 8,407,882 2.96

8 BOOM SECURITIES (hK) LTD 
<CLIENTS ACCOUNT>

7,500,000 2.64

9 SANDhURST TRUSTEES LTD 
<JMFG CONSOL A/C>

6,093,752 2.15

10 MS JANE YUILE 5,666,660 2.00

11 MERRILL LYNCh (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 5,442,685 1.92

12 CROFTON PARK DEVELOPMENTS PTY LTD 
<BROUGhAM FAMILY ACCOUNT>

5,000,000 1.76

13 MR ROBERT GEORGE STRIBLING + MRS PAULINE GOh–STRIBLING 2,880,000 1.01

14 MR JAMES MARANIS 2,707,973 0.95

15 MS ANN MARIE LANDRY 2,688,940 0.95

16 MR IAN hARROP 2,688,939 0.95

17 UBS WEALTh MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,447,222 0.86

18 TRAFALGAR PLACE NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,300,000 0.81

19 SOUThERLY TRADING PTY LTD 2,227,500 0.78

20 MR PhILIP CAIRNS DIxON + MRS JACQUELINE DIxON + MR STEPhEN 
ThOMAS WRIGhT <DIxON FAMILY A/C>

2,150,000 0.76
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